
 

TOWN OF GRANITE QUARRY 
BOARD OF ALDERMEN  

REGULAR MEETING 
Monday, January 9, 2023 

6:00 p.m. 
 

Call to Order   Mayor Barnhardt 
 
Moment of Silence 
 
Pledge of Allegiance   
 
1. Approval of Agenda 

 
2. Approval of Consent Agenda 

A. Approval of the Minutes 
1) Regular Meeting December 12, 2022 

B. Departmental Reports (Reports in Board packet) 
C. Financial Reports (Reports in Board packet) 

 
3. Citizen Comments 

(All comments are limited to 6 minutes. No sharing of minutes with other citizens.) 
 

4. Town Manager Update (Report in Board packet)  
     

Old Business      
 
5. Adoption     Rules of Procedure 

ACTION REQUESTED: Motion to adopt Rules of Procedure with the amendments below. 
 
Amendments: 

 
6. Mission Statement 

ACTION REQUESTED: Motion to adopt the proposed Mission statement (as presented / as 
amended). 

 
New Business 
 
7. Discussion     Sponsorship Guidelines 

ACTION REQUESTED: Discussion and adoption by consensus. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 1



 
8. Appointment    NCLM Voting Delegate 

ACTION REQUESTED: Motion to appoint ____________ as the Board’s NCLM voting delegate. 
 

9. Decision     NCLM Legislative Goals 
ACTION REQUESTED: The Board is being asked to identify 10 of the 16 goals presented by the 
NCLM as priority. 
 

10. Budget Amendment   Tasers 
ACTION REQUESTED: Motion to approve Budget Amendment #6 as presented. 
 

11. Closeout     GPO 2021-13 ARPA 
ACTION REQUESTED: Motion to adopt Grant Project Ordinance 2021-13 closeout as presented. 
 

12. Adoption     CPO 2023-01 Transformational Projects 
ACTION REQUESTED: Motion to adopt Capital Project Ordinance 2023-01 as presented for the 
Town’s Transformational Projects. 
 

13. Board Comments 
 
14. Announcements and Date Reminders  

A. Wednesday January 11 5:00 p.m. Centralina Executive Board Meeting 
B. Thursday January 12 6:00 p.m. Community Appearance Commission 
C. Monday January 16   MLK, Jr. Day, Town Hall Closed 
D. Tuesday January 17 3:30 p.m. Revitalization Team 
E. Tuesday January 17 6:00 p.m. Zoning Board of Adjustment 
F. Thursday January 19 7:30 a.m. Power in Partnership Breakfast 
G. Wednesday January 25 5:30 p.m. CRMPO TAC 
H. Thursday January 26 6:00 p.m. Chamber Annual Meeting 
I. Monday February 6 6:00 p.m. Planning Board 
J. Wednesday February 8 TBD  Centralina Board of Delegates  
K. Thursday February 9 6:00 p.m. Community Appearance Commission 

 
Adjourn  

Town of Granite Quarry Page 2



Agenda Item Summary 
Regular Meeting 
January 9, 2023 
Agenda Item 1          Approval of Agenda 

Summary: 
The Board may discuss, add, or delete items from the Regular 
Meeting agenda. 

Action Requested: 
Motion to adopt the January 9, 2023 Board of Aldermen 
Meeting Agenda (as presented / as amended). 

Motion Made By: 
Jim Costantino 
John Linker 
Doug Shelton 
Jeff Cannon 

Second By: 
Jim Costantino 
John Linker 
Doug Shelton 
Jeff Cannon 

For: 
Jim Costantino 
John Linker 
Doug Shelton 
Jeff Cannon 

Against: 
Jim Costantino 
John Linker 
Doug Shelton 
Jeff Cannon 

In case of tie: 
Mayor Brittany Barnhardt 

For      
Against  

Town of Granite Quarry Page 3



Agenda Item Summary 
Regular Meeting 
January 9, 2023 
Agenda Item 2                     Approval of Consent Agenda 

          
 
 

Summary: 
 

The Board may discuss, add, or delete items from the Consent 
Agenda. 
 
A. Approval of the Minutes 

1) Regular Meeting December 12, 2022 
B. Departmental Reports (Reports in Board packet) 
C. Financial Reports (Reports in Board packet) 
 

 
 

Action Requested: 
Motion to approve the consent agenda (as presented / as 
amended). 

Motion Made By: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  

Second By: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  
 
 

 

For: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  

Against: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  

 
 
In case of tie: 
Mayor Brittany Barnhardt 
 For              

 Against      
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 4



                                                                  
TOWN OF GRANITE QUARRY 

BOARD OF ALDERMEN  
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

Monday, December 12, 2022 
6:00 p.m. 

 

 
Present:  Mayor Brittany Barnhardt, Mayor Pro Tem John Linker, Alderman Jim Costantino, Alderman 
Doug Shelton, Alderman Jeff Cannon 
 
Staff: Town Manager Larry Smith, Town Clerk Aubrey Smith, Fire Chief / Public Works Director Jason 
Hord, Police Chief Mark Cook, Finance Officer Shelly Shockley 
 
Call to Order:  Mayor Barnhardt called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 
 
Moment of Silence:  Mayor Barnhardt led a moment of silence. 
 
Pledge of Allegiance:  The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Mayor Barnhardt. 
 
1. Approval of the Agenda 

ACTION:  Alderman Costantino made a motion to approve the agenda. Mayor Pro Tem Linker 
seconded the motion. The motion passed 4-0. 

 
2. Approval of the Consent Agenda 

A. Approval of the Minutes 
1) Regular Meeting November 14, 2022 

B. Departmental Reports (Reports in Board packet) 
C. Financial Reports (Reports in Board packet) 
D. Certification of Fire Roster 

 
ACTION: Alderman Shelton made a motion to approve the consent agenda. Alderman Cannon 
seconded the motion. The motion passed 4-0. 

 
3. Citizen Comments – There were no citizen comments. 
 
4. Town Manager’s Update 

Manager Smith passed out an updated Town Manager’s report and shared updates from the report 
including Granite Fest statistics which will continue to be tracked to show event growth. 
Transformational projects are underway with Stewart. The Board will meet January 12, 2023 for a 
special meeting with Stewart and Representative Warren to discuss. Manager Smith introduced the 
proposed mission statement and stated any feedback could be sent to him before the next meeting. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 5



Manager Smith passed out examples of communication guidelines; examples A-D show what would 
usually be found in an agreement between a manager and board and the final example was a more 
general governance example that would be more appropriate to a board's rules of procedure. 
 
Manager Smith passed out the project tracking sheet and reviewed updates with the Board. 

 
Old Business      
 
5. Adoption     Fund Balance Policy 

Finance Officer Shelly Shockley addressed the Board and answered questions regarding the proposed 
Fund Balance Policy. There was discussion regarding the goal to maintain approximately 40-60% of 
the previous year’s budgeted General Fund expenditures as unassigned fund balance. There was 
discussion of changing the range to 40-50%. 
 
ACTION: Alderman Shelton made a motion that Mayor Barnhardt restated as a motion to adopt 
Resolution 2022-09 to adopt a Town Fund Balance Policy and amend the range (of unassigned fund 
balance from a 40-60% range) to 40-50%. Mayor Pro Tem Linker seconded the motion. The motion 
passed 4-0.    

 
New Business  
 
6. Presentation    Audit 

Tony Brewer, CPA addressed the Board and expressed thanks for the opportunity to serve as the Town’s 
auditors. Mr. Brewer passed out a guide to the audit and shared highlights. 
 
Highlights for the general fund: 
• Ad valorem tax collections were up ~ $84,000 
• Unrestricted intergovernmental revenues were up ~ $144,000 
• Total revenues were up ~ $212,000 mainly due to increases in ad valorem collections, local options 

sales tax increase, and an increase in environmental fee revenues 
• Expenditures were up ~ $255,000 mainly due to expenditures in the transportation department 

concerning equipment purchases and road construction 
• For the year revenues were greater than expenditures by $587,000 vs. an increase of $96,000 in 

2021 
o ~ $480,000 was an operating transfer from the APRA special revenue fund. Excluding this 

transfer, the bottom line increased by roughly the same amount as last fiscal year. 
• Capital Projects as of June 30, 2022 

o Industrial development project was completed 
o Granite Lake Project stood at 87% complete 

• Other noteworthy items: 
o Available or unassigned fund balance increased to 85% of general fund expenditures 
o Notes payable decreased $100,000 due to principal payments 
o Collection rate remains above state average (average 96%, Town 98.88%) 

• New requirements from the Local Government Commission: 
o Will no longer issue unit, or white, letters 
o Auditors are now required to report any Financial Performance Indicators to the Governing 

Body 
o New requirement for governing body to submit response to indicators to the LGC. Must be 

signed by majority of members and submitted within 60 days with plan to address areas of 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 6



concern. The Town does not have any Financial Performance Indicators for FY 21/22 and 
therefore does not have to submit a response. 

 

Mr. Brewer thanked Manager Smith and Finance Officer Shockley for the job that they do and the 
Board for its involvement. 

 
7. Appointments    Centralina & MPO’s TAC 

Mayor Barnhardt shared that many municipalities have both the representative and the alternate attend 
all the meetings. 
 
ACTION: Alderman Shelton made a motion to appoint Mayor Brittany Barnhardt as the representative 
and Alderman Jim Costantino as the alternate representative for each of the groups (the Centralina 
Board of Delegates and the CRMPO’s TAC). Mayor Pro Tem Linker seconded the motion. The 
motion passed 4-0.  

 

8. Introduction    Rules of Procedure 
Draft Rules of Procedure were included in the agenda packet for the Board’s review. Any feedback can 
be sent in before the next meeting. The discussion and possible adoption will be placed on next month’s 
agenda. 

 
9. Budget Amendment   Police Vehicles 

To decrease General Fund Contingency (01-4110-97) and increase Police – Maint & Repair Vehicles 
(01-4310-25) in the amount of $3,900 for an emergency repair to Vehicle 141 and additional 
maintenance to the fleet for the remainder of the fiscal year. 
 
ACTION: Alderman Costantino made a motion to approve the $3,900 for maintenance and repair 
vehicles (Budget Amendment #5). Alderman Cannon seconded the motion. The motion passed 4-0. 

 
10. Board Comments   

•  Alderman Costantino commended the police and fire departments for their handling of the recent 
situation. 

• Mayor Barnhardt echoed the statement and shared that the Board would like to do something 
special for them in the next few months. 

• Mayor Pro Tem Linker asked about the Highway 52 bypass plans and the effect on proposed 
developments. 
o Manager Smith stated he had followed up with the referenced developer, who was not willing 

to negotiate.  
• Alderman Shelton stated the surplus on the last audit was largely from ARPA funds and unexpected 

revenues such as the $50,000 fire stipend. He stated concern that the surplus wouldn’t be repeated 
after this year and should be taken into consideration during budget planning. 
o Mayor Pro Tem Linker commented that revaluation was happening next year. 
o Alderman Costantino stated there was growth happening. 
 

11. Announcements and Date Reminders  
A. Thursday  December 15  7:30 a.m.  Power in Partnership Breakfast 
B. Monday December 19  5:00 p.m. Parks, Events and Recreation Committee 
C. Monday December 19  6:00 p.m. Zoning Board of Adjustment  
D. Tuesday  December 20  3:30 p.m. Revitalization  
E. Friday   December 23    Office Closed  
F. Monday December 26    Office Closed 
G. Tuesday December 27    Office Closed 
H. Monday  January 2    Office Closed 
I. Tuesday January 3  6:00 p.m. Planning Board  

Town of Granite Quarry Page 7



Adjournment 
ACTION: Alderman Costantino made a motion to adjourn. Mayor Pro Tem Linker seconded the motion. 
The motion passed 4-0.  
 
The meeting ended at 7:24 p.m. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
Aubrey Smith 
Town Clerk 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 8



 
Granite Quarry-Faith Joint Police Authority 

P.O. Box 351  143 North Salisbury Ave, Granite Quarry, NC 28072 
Office: (704)279-2952  Fax: (704)279-6648 

 

 
Police Department Report 

 
January 2023 

 
• Call volume report for the month of December 2022: 

o Date of Report: 12/30/2022 

o Total calls for service/activities –  1049                                       

o Calls for service/activities Granite Quarry: 912                 

o Calls for service/activities Faith:  137            

o Incident Reports- 8             

o Arrest Reports- 1      

o Crash Reports- 11                                                   

o Traffic Citations- 23                       

• See Attached for Total Calls for Service. 

• The following is the ending and average mileage for each vehicle by month: 
 

131 Chevy Impala- End- 77,651   
141 Ford Taurus- End- 86,245   
161 Ford Utility- End- 76,987 
171 Ford Utility - End- 58,583 
172 Ford Utility - End- 93,751 
173 Ford Utility - End- 46,913  
181 Ford F150 - End- 84,852 
191 Dodge Durango - End- 46,297 
201 Ford Utility-  End- 27,981 
211 Ford Utility- End- 15,902 
212 Ford Utility- End- 38,437 

 
• Other Information: 

 
o Drug Collection Box. Dec. 2022: 20.32 pounds collected.  
o December CID Report. 1 Cases assigned; 6 Cases cleared; 12 follow-ups conducted; 

102 open assigned cases. 
o Officers completed 23 hours of in-service or continuing education training in Dec. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 9



GQPD
Number of Events by Nature

CFS Dec 2022 Granite Quarry

Nature # Events

103A3 LOST PROPERTY 1

104B01 ATM ALARM 4

104C2 COMMERCIAL BURG (INTRUSI 6

104C3 RESIDENTAL BURG (INTRUSI 1

105D2 ANIMAL-DANGEROUS 1

106C5 ASSAULT JUST OCC 1

107O1 ASSIST OTHER AGENCY-REFE 1

107O2 ASSIST OTHER AGENCY-INFO 1

110D2 RESIDENTIAL B&E 1

112D2 DECEASED (SUDDEN) 1

113B2 OTHER NOISE COMPLAINT 1

113D2 DISTURBANCE / VERBAL 2

114D1 PHYSICAL DOMESTIC 2

114D2 VERBAL DOMESTIC 1

114D4 VERBAL FAMILY DOMESTIC 1

118B2 FRAUD-PAST FORGERY 3

118C1 FRAUD (PHONE/MAIL/ELEC) 1

121B1 MENTAL - NOT VIOLENT 1

125B1 CHECK WELFARE - ROUTINE 1

125B2 LOCKOUT - ROUTINE 4

125D1 CHECK WELFARE-URGENT 3

129B3 SUSPICIOUS CIRCUM (PAST) 1

129C1 SUSPICIOUS PERSON 2

129C3 SUSPICIOUS VEHICLE 6

129C5 SUSPICIOUS CIRCUMSTANCE 1

130B3 THEFT FROM VEH (PAST) 2

130C1 THEFT JUST OCCURED 1

131B1 TRAFFIC ACCIDENT - PD 1

131O2 TRAFFIC - INFORMATION 7

Town of Granite Quarry Page 10



Nature # Events

132A1 ABANDONED VEHICLE 1

132B1 MINOR TRAFFIC VIOLATION 1

132B3 STALLED VEHICLE 2

132C1 SEVERE TRAFFIC VIOLATION 1

132O1 TRAFFIC COMP - REFERRAL 1

133D1 TRESPASSING 1

135C1 SHOTS FIRED (HEARD) 1

71B1 VEHICLE FIRE 1

71C1 VEHICLE FIRE 1

77B1 TRAFFIC ACC - INJURY 2

77B3 TRAFFIC ACC - POSS INJURY 2

911 HANG UP 6

ASSIST FIRE DEPT 1

ASSIST MOTORIST 1

ATTEMPT TO LOCATE 1

BURGLARY ALARM 1

BUSINESS OR HOUSE CHECK 758

COMMUNITY PROGRAM 4

DELIVER MESSAGE 3

DOMESTIC PROPERTY PICKUP 1

FOLLOWUP 14

FOOT PATROL 1

GENERAL INFORMATION 7

LAW CALL 1

MISDIAL 6

OPEN DOOR 1

SCHOOL SECURITY CHECK 2

SUBPOENA SERVICE 2

TRAFFIC CHECK 1

TRAFFIC CONTROL 1

TRAFFIC STOP 23

VEHICLE ACCIDENT PROP DAMAGE 4

Total 912
Town of Granite Quarry Page 11



137Total

GQPD
Number of Events by Nature

CFS Dec 2022 Faith

Nature # Events

110C2 POSSIBLE B&E COMMERCIAL 1

111B1 PAST DAMAGE TO PROPERTY 1

112D2 DECEASED (SUDDEN) 1

115D1 DRIVING UNDER INFLUENCE 1

118D2 FRAUD-FORGERY 1

119D2 THREAT 1

129C3 SUSPICIOUS VEHICLE 2

131B3 HIT & RUN 1

132B1 MINOR TRAFFIC VIOLATION 1

132C2 HAZARDOUS ROAD CONDITION 2

911 HANG UP 5

BURGLARY ALARM 1

BUSINESS OR HOUSE CHECK 107

FOLLOWUP 3

GENERAL INFORMATION 1

MISDIAL 1

SCHOOL SECURITY CHECK 1

TRAFFIC CHECK 1

TRAFFIC STOP 4

VEHICLE ACCIDENT PROP DAMAGE 1

Town of Granite Quarry Page 12



Town of Granite Quarry 
Fire Department 

 Established May 15th, 1950 
                                                                                   PO Box 351  
             www.granitequarrync.gov            Granite Quarry, NC        704/279-5596  

 
 Board Report January/2023 Chief Hord 
 

Emergency Calls for Service November 2022  
41 calls in district 

• 21 - EMS (including strokes, falls, diabetic, CPR and other medical needs)  
• 2 - Structure Fires  
• 4 - Motor Vehicle Accident 
• 3 - Fire Alarms 
• 2 - Vehicle Fires 
• 2 - Cancelled en-route 
• 2 - Public Service 
• 1 - brush/Grass fire 
• 2 - Water issues 
• 2 - Lines down 

15 calls to Salisbury 
• 8 - Alarm/Structure, EMS calls canceled en-route 
• 1 - Fire alarm 
• 3 - Move ups 
• 2 - EMS 
• 1 - Structure fire  

16 calls to Rockwell Rural 
• 7 - EMS 
• 3 - Structure fires 
• 1 - Move up 
• 1 - Brush/Grass fire 
• 4 - Cancelled en-route 

8 calls to Union  
• 1 - Structure fire 
• 1 - Brush/Grass fire 
• 2 - EMS 
• 1 - Vehicle fire 
• 3 - Cancelled en-route 

5 calls to Rockwell City  
• 1 - EMS 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 13



• 4 - Cancelled en-route 
4 calls to Liberty 

• 1 - Fire alarm 
• 3 - Cancelled en-route  

3 calls to South Salisbury cancelled en-route 
1 call to Faith cancelled en-route  
 
TOTAL – 93 
 
ACTIVITIES  

• Daily activities include apparatus & equipment checks, training, station maintenance, 
pre-plan development, hose and hydrant maintenance, water points, emergency response, 
public education, inspections, and the assistance of other divisions within the Town of 
GQ.  

• Monthly training included E.M.T continuing education and Joint Training with Faith F.D.  
• Multiple days of ladder training, water point training, hose evolutions, extrication tool 

familiarization, and district familiarization. Weekly shift training/ officer’s choice. 
• Car Seat Check Station on Thursday from 1 p.m.to 4 p.m. – 4 seat installed/checked.  
• Grounds care on Thursdays 
• Communities in school visits on Thursdays. 

 
 
 
 
E-571 

• Mileage – 19926 
• Hours – 1768 

 
E-572 

• Mileage – 40355.6 
• Hours – 3262.5 

 
R-57 

• Mileage – 37800.5 
• Hours – 3463.0 

 
SQ-57 

• Mileage – 5288 
• Hours - 697 

 
 

 
 

 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 14



     
 

December Work 2022 Public Works Report 
 

• Normal Maintenance Duties Daily- (parks, cleaning, mowing, 
edging, service on equipment, limbs & sweeping) 

• PM check on generator  
• Leaf pickup bi-weekly  
• Nature trail maintenance weekly  
• Filled various potholes  
• Cleaned carpets board room  
• Wind storm clean up  
• Updated 8 stop signs  
• New tires on dump truck  
• Cleaned gutters at Legion  
• Flail mower installed  
• Rebuilt urinal at Lake Park  
• 2 temporary “duck shelters” built and placed at lake  

 

2007 Ford Truck   Mileage – 63,914                    +60   miles 
1995 Ford Dump Truck  Mileage – 43,969         +329 miles     
2009 Ford Truck   Mileage – 92,790                    +313 miles 
2019 Ford Truck F350  Mileage – 18,135                  +348 miles  
2022 Chevy Silverado   Mileage – 8,134                    +938 miles 

 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 15

http://www.granitequarrync.gov/


Planning Department Monthly Report 
December 2022 

Permits 
9  Permit Applications 
8 Permits approved 
00 Permits denied 

Date Address Permit Status 
1-Dec-22 204 Balfour Quarry Rd Other Issued 
1-Dec-22 102 Pecan Lane Accessory Building/Storage Building Issued 
1-Dec-22 415 Belfour Quarry Rd Addition Issued 
1-Dec-22 422 W. Bank St. Addition Issued 
5-Dec-22 109 S. Walnut Street Remodel Issued 
5-Dec-22 4960 Fish Pond Road Accessory Building/Storage Building Issued 

12-Dec-22 110 Stone Haven Ct.  New Single Family Dwelling Issued 
19-Dec-22 923 N Salisbury GQ Ave Accessory Building/Storage Building Issued 

 

Planning/Zoning Review 

Date Inquiry Zoning Comments 
Dec-22 635 Dunns Mountain Church Rd. RL Solar Panels 
Dec-22 Sifford OI/RL Received Plat SFH/Townhomes 
Dec-22 Phase III Granite Village  PUD Townhomes 
Dec-22 R&J Investments  RL Exempt Subdivision  
Dec-22 Finney Investments RL Exempt Subdivision 
Dec-22 Matt Wagoner MH-O Possible Duplex or Storage 
Dec-22 Tripp RL Possible Major Subdivision for SFH 

 

Planning Board.  Met 12/5/2022 – Continued Granite Quarry Development Ordinance Project with N-
Focus.  
 

Zoning Board of Adjustment.  Did not meet in December due to lack of business. 
 
 
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 16



	
Alliance	Code	 Monthly	Report	 Updated	
Enforcement	LLC	 Town	of	Granite	Quarry	 January	4,	2022	
	
	
MH	-	Minimum	Housing	/	OL	-	Overgrown	Lot	/	JV	-	Junk	Vehicle	/	JP	-	Junk	Pile	(open	storage)	
/	AC	-	Animal	Control	/	ZV	-	Zoning	Violation	/	Open	Red	-	Open	Active	Case	/	Open	Yellow	-	
Open	Inactive	Case	/	Abated	Green	-	Case	Closed	&	Cleared	/	Unfounded	Blue	-	No	Violation	
Found,	Case	Closed	/	NOV	-	Notice	of	Violation	/	NOH	-	Notice	of	Hearing	/	FOF	-	Finding	of	Fact	

ADDRESS	 VIOLATION	 STATUS	
308	Legion	St	 JP	 NOH	

518	Railroad	St	 MH	

Still	working	to	find	a	
family	member	to	contact	
about	the	property.	NEEDS	

NOH	
518	S	Main	St	 JP/JV	 NOH	
111	W	Lyerly	St	 MH	 NOH	

504	S	Salisbury	Ave	 MH	 NOH	for	rubble/remains	
1280	Dunns	Mtn	Rd	 ZV	 NOH	
1190	Summer	Ln	 MH/JP/JV	 NOH	
315	N	Oak	St	 MH/OL	 12/16	
225	Hill	St	 JV	 ABATED	

344	Brookwood	Dr	 MH/OL	 12/16	
720	S	Main	St	 ZV	 NOH	
302	W	Peeler	St	 JV	 11/30	

341	Brookwood	Dr	 JP/OL	 NOH	
107	N	Walnut	St	 ZV	 ABATED	
221	S	Oak	St	 MH	 NOH	

604	N	Salisbury	 JV	 NOH	
315	N	Salisbury	 JP	 ABATED	
106	E	Church	St	 JP	 NOH	
114	N	Oak	St	 OL	 ABATED	

555	Hummingbird	Ln	 OL	 ABATED	
723	N	Salisbury	Ave	 OL	 ABATED	
240	N	Salisbury	Ave	 OL	 ABATED	
702	W	Campbell	Ave	 JP	 NOH		
203	E	Church	St	 JP/JV	 ABATED	

150	Queeners	Ct	 JP/JV	 Property	in	ETJ	but	
working	to	get	it	abated	

211	N	Oak	St	 OL	 ABATED	
411	S	Main	St	 JV	 Monitoring	
303	S	Oak	St	 JP/OL	 12/21	

Town of Granite Quarry Page 17



	
Alliance	Code	 Monthly	Report	 Updated	
Enforcement	LLC	 Town	of	Granite	Quarry	 January	4,	2022	
	
	

507	Troutman	Rd	 JP	 New	Case	burned	house	
remains	01/19	

Norfolk	Southern	 OL	 1/19	
1103	Crestview	 JP	 1/19	

222	Meadow	Wood	Dr	 JP	 1/19	
313	Yost	Farm	Rd	 JP/JV	 1/19	
704	N	Salisbury	 JP	 1/13	

1304	Stonewyck	Dr	 JP/ZV	 1/19	
	
	

	
	
	

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35

ZONING

OVERGROWTH

JUNK	VEHICLES

JUNK	PILE

MINIMUM	HOUSING

NEW	ABATEMENTS

TOTAL	ABATEMENTS	

ORDERS

NOH'S

NOV'S

NEW	CASES

TOTAL	CASES

Zoning Overgro
wth

Junk
Vehicles Junk	Pile

Minimu
m

Housing

New
Abateme
nts

Total
Abateme
nts

Orders NOH's NOV's New
Cases

Total
Cases

Amounts 3 10 8 12 7 7 7 0 13 5 5 31

By	the	Numbers

Town of Granite Quarry Page 18



.

Budgeted Encumbered YTD

Revenues: 3,025,883 2,295,334 76%

Total Revenues: 3,025,883$   2,295,334$   76%

Expenses:

Governing Body 171,827  32,750  69,925 60%

Administration 621,023  800  251,111 41%

Public Works 341,475  360  177,314 52%

Police 914,516  17,608  423,749 48%

Fire 598,990  16,500  304,981 54%

Streets 126,102  - 61,309 49%

Sanitation 175,000  - 88,148 50%

Parks & Recreation 76,950  3,050  29,334 42%

Total Expenses: 3,025,883$   71,068$   1,405,870$   49%

61%

Finance Department

Please see the Budget Vs. Actual Report attached for individual line items

Department

As of December 31, 2022
Breakdown by Department:

Expense to Revenue:

Page 1
Town of Granite Quarry Page 19



Granite Quarry Finance Department As of December 31, 2022

Budget YTD Variance % Notes

1,121,777      859,026         (262,751)        77% 1

3,700            3,022            (678)               82% 1

7,000            8,466            1,466             121% 1

142,823         74,674          (68,149)          52%

963,578         520,913         (442,665)        54%

2,374            1,106            (1,268)            47%

89,302          92,003          2,701             103% 2

12,762          -                (12,762)          0%

137,447         70,105          (67,342)          51%

4,020            2,010            (2,010)            50%

2,900            1,738            (1,162)            60%

146,000         36,500          (109,500)        25%

100               70                 (30)                70%

1,100            599               (501)               54%

-                   2,700            2,700             100% 3

178,500         77,795          (100,705)        44%

5,500            5,542            42                  101%

21,000          11,415          (9,585)            54%

50,000          -                   (50,000)          0%

3,000            30,635          27,635           1021% 4

3,750            3,785            35                  101% 5

1,350            2,580            1,230             191% 6

1,000            3,425            2,425             342% 7

11,400          7,266            (4,134)            64%

01-3982-96 Transfer In - ARPA Fund -                   479,958         479,958          100%

115,500         -                   (115,500)        0% 8

3,025,883   2,295,334   (730,549)      76%

1 A majority of Ad Valorem Taxes are received in the first few months of the fiscal year

2 Received both Powell Bill allocations for the Fiscal Year

3 Storm damage to Lake Park fence covered by insurance

4 Invested a large amount into the NC Capital Management Trust (see Interest on Investments page for details)

5 Includes GQ Civitans annual rental fee of $1,200

6 Includes sale of surplus pistols

7 Includes sale of sickle bar and multiple other items

8 Rowan County Fire Dept .25 Cent Appropriation ($50,000) allocated in 01-4340-29 and CLUP/UDO ($65,500)

Revenues:
Account

01-3100-12 Taxes - Budget Year

01-3100-17 Tax Penalties & Interest

01-3101-12 Taxes - Prior Years

01-3102-12 Vehicle Tax

01-3230-31 Local Option Sales Tax

01-3231-31 Solid Waste Disposal Tax

01-3316-32 Powell Pave & Patch Funds

01-3322-31 Beer & Wine - State

01-3324-31 Utilities Franchise Tax

01-3330-84 County First Responders

01-3413-89 Miscellaneous Revenue

01-3431-41 Police Authority Revenue_Faith

01-3431-45 Police Report Revenue

01-3431-89 Police Miscellaneous

01-3471-51 Environmental Fee Collection

01-3491-41 Subdivision & Zoning Fees

01-3613-41 Parks Miscellaneous

01-3713-33 Sal. Water/Sewer Reimbursement

01-3451-85 Property Damage Claims

01-3991-99 Fund Balance Appropriated  

Notes:

01-3831-89 Interest on Investments

01-3834-41 Park Shelter Rentals (Maint)

01-3835-80 Police Surplus Items Sold

01-3835-81 Surplus items Sold

01-3837-31 ABC Net Revenue-Co.

Page 2
Town of Granite Quarry Page 20



Granite Quarry Finance Department As of December 31, 2022

Budget Encum. YTD Variance % Notes

18,745      -               8,934        9,811        48%

1,434        -               683           -               48%

50             -               36             14             72% 9

85,500      32,750      45,008      7,742        91% 10

900           -               268           632           30%

900           -               210           690           23%

13,565      -               11,428      2,137        84%

1,814        -               1,814        -               100% 9

24,438      -               1,443        22,995      6%

350           -               100           250           29%

24,131      -               -            24,131      0%

171,827  32,750     69,925     69,152     60%

Notes:

9 Paid once annually at the beginning of the Fiscal Year

10 Annual audit complete, CLUP/UDO encumbered

Governing Body:
Account

01-4110-02 Mayor/Aldermen Salary

01-4110-09 FICA Expense

01-4110-14 Insurance - Workers Comp

01-4110-60 Special Projects

01-4110-61 Grants - Nonprofit Grant Program

01-4110-97 General Fund Contingency

01-4110-18 Professional Services

01-4110-26 Office Expense

01-4110-31 Training & Schools

01-4110-40 Dues & Subscriptions

01-4110-45 Insurance & Bonds

Page 3
Town of Granite Quarry Page 21



Granite Quarry Finance Department As of December 31, 2022

Budget Encum. YTD Variance % Notes

01-4120-00 Salaries - Regular 292,500     -               129,391     163,109     44%

01-4120-03 Salaries - Longevity 850           -               850           -               100%

01-4120-07 401K Expense 14,625      -               6,470        8,155        44%

01-4120-09 FICA Expense 22,442      -               9,765        12,677      44%

01-4120-10 Retirement Expense 35,584      -               15,695      19,889      44%

01-4120-11 Group Insurance 37,000      -               17,100      19,900      46%

01-4120-14 Insurance - Workers Comp 500           -               435           65             87% 11

01-4120-17 Insurance – HRA/Admin Cost 1,200        -               600           600           50%

01-4120-18 Professional Services 81,500      -               33,027      48,473      41%

01-4120-22 Banquet Expense 1,700        -               -            1,700        0%

01-4120-26 Office Expense 9,500        300           2,871        6,329        33%

01-4120-31 Training & Schools 7,000        -               2,878        4,123        41%

01-4120-32 Telephone/Communications 4,500        -               1,851        2,649        41%

01-4120-33 Utilities 4,800        -               2,324        2,476        48%

01-4120-34 Printing 6,000        -               2,686        3,314        45%

01-4120-37 Advertising 3,000        -               363           2,637        12%

01-4120-40 Dues & Subscriptions 3,300        -               630           2,670        19%

01-4120-44 Contracted Services 19,500      500           10,223      8,777        55%

01-4120-45 Insurance & Bonds 5,200        -               5,177        23             100% 11

01-4120-62 Committees - CAC 700           -               56             644           8%

01-4120-68 Tax Collection 16,775      -               8,015        8,760        48%

01-4120-71 Water Line - Principal 51,536      -               -            51,536      0%

01-4120-72 Water Line - Interest 1,311        -               706           605           54%

621,023  800          251,111  369,112  41%

Notes:

11 Paid once annually at the beginning of the Fiscal Year

Account

Administration:

Page 4
Town of Granite Quarry Page 22



Granite Quarry Finance Department As of December 31, 2022

Budget Encum. YTD Variance % Notes

01-4190-00 Salaries - Regular 134,500       -            62,639      71,861      47%

01-4190-02 Salaries - Part-Time 45,000        -            24,965      20,035      55%

01-4190-03 Salaries - Longevity 1,150          -            933           217           81%

01-4190-07 401K Expense 6,725          -            3,132        3,593        47%

01-4190-09 FICA Expense 13,820        -            6,773        7,047        49%

01-4190-10 Retirement Expense 16,455        -            7,582        8,873        46%

01-4190-11 Group Insurance 25,500        -            11,362      14,138      45%

01-4190-14 Insurance - Workers Comp 6,500          -            6,444        56             99% 12

01-4190-20 Motor Fuel 16,500        -            7,188        9,312        44%

01-4190-21 Uniforms 1,600          -            680           920           43%

01-4190-24 Maint & Repair - Bldgs/Grounds 23,300        -            19,449      3,851        83% 13

01-4190-25 Maint & Repair - Vehicles 4,500          -            3,799        701           84% 14
01-4190-29 Supplies & Equipment 11,000        -            10,549      451           96% 15
01-4190-31 Training & Schools 250             -            -            250           0%

01-4190-32 Telephone/Communications 850             -            354           496           42%

01-4190-33 Utilities 3,500          -            1,645        1,855        47%

01-4190-34 Printing 25               -            6               19             23%

01-4190-35 Maint & Repairs - Equipment 8,000          -            3,284        4,716        41%

01-4190-40 Dues & Subscriptions 200             -            106           94             53%

01-4190-44 Contracted Services 17,500        360           1,861        15,279      13%

01-4190-45 Insurance & Bonds 4,600          -            4,563        37             99% 12

$341,475 360          177,314  163,801  52%

Notes:

12 Paid once annually at the beginning of the Fiscal Year

13 Storm damage to Lake Park fence reimbursed by insurance, Board Room and Town Hall front doors

14 Includes dump truck tires

15 Flail mower purchased

Account

Public Works:

Page 5
Town of Granite Quarry Page 23



Granite Quarry Finance Department As of December 31, 2022

Budget Encum. YTD Variance % Notes

01-4310-00 Salaries - Regular 494,750     -               234,366     260,384     47%

01-4310-02 Salaries - Part-Time 5,000        -               1,148        3,853        23%

01-4310-03 Salaries - Longevity 2,550        -               2,500        50             98%

01-4310-07 401K Expense 24,738      -               11,718      13,020      47%

01-4310-09 FICA Expense 38,426      -               18,558      19,868      48%

01-4310-10 Retirement Expense 64,848      -               30,561      34,287      47%

01-4310-11 Group Insurance 91,111      -               40,362      50,749      44%

01-4310-14 Insurance - Workers Comp 10,614      -               10,613      1               100% 16

01-4310-20 Motor Fuel 36,000      -               14,706      21,294      41%

01-4310-21 Uniforms 4,400        1,008        2,137        1,255        71%

01-4310-25 Maint & Repair - Vehicles 9,900        1,600        8,139        161           98% 17

01-4310-26 Office Expense 1,500        -               259           1,241        17%

01-4310-29 Supplies & Equipment 16,890      -               11,635      5,255        69%

01-4310-31 Training & Schools 5,500        -               1,814        3,686        33%

01-4310-32 Telephone/Communications 8,000        -               3,575        4,425        45%

01-4310-33 Utilities 1,725        -               827           898           48%

01-4310-34 Printing 1,000        -               335           665           33%

01-4310-35 Maint & Repair - Equipment 1,664        -               -               1,664        0%

01-4310-40 Dues & Subscriptions 3,650        -               1,612        2,038        44%

01-4310-44 Contracted Services 23,250      -               14,885      8,365        64%

01-4310-45 Insurance & Bonds 14,000      -               14,000      -               100% 16

01-4310-54 Cap Outlay - Vehicles 50,000      15,000      -               35,000      30% 18

01-4310-55 Cap Outlay - Equipment 5,000        -               -               5,000        0%

914,516  17,608     423,749  473,159  48%

Notes:
16 Paid once annually at the beginning of the Fiscal Year

17 Multiple unanticipated costly repairs to vehicles

18 Vehicle upfit encumbered

Account

Police:

Page 6
Town of Granite Quarry Page 24



Granite Quarry Finance Department As of December 31, 2022

Budget Encum. YTD Variance % Notes

01-4340-00 Salaries - Regular 134,000     -               66,626      67,374      50%

01-4340-02 Salaries - Part-Time 225,000     -               110,541     114,459     49%

01-4340-03 Salaries - Longevity 2,200        -               1,946        254           88%

01-4340-07 401K Expense 7,645        -               3,791        3,854        50%

01-4340-09 FICA Expense 27,632      -               13,578      14,054      49%

01-4340-10 Retirement Expense 18,813      -               9,213        9,600        49%

01-4340-11 Group Insurance 28,000      -               12,364      15,636      44%

01-4340-14 Insurance - Workers Comp 9,198        -               9,197        1               100% 19

01-4340-17 Firemen's Pension Fund 1,800        -               160           1,640        9%

01-4340-20 Motor Fuel 8,000        -               3,920        4,080        49%

01-4340-21 Uniforms 3,000        -               1,777        1,223        59%

01-4340-25 Maint & Repair - Vehicles 19,500      -               19,037      463           98% 20

01-4340-26 Office Expense 150           -               109           41             73%

01-4340-29 Supplies & Equipment 70,500      16,500      29,236      24,764      65% 21

01-4340-31 Training & Schools 2,500        -               851           1,649        34%

01-4340-32 Telephone/Communications 4,500        -               2,058        2,442        46%

01-4340-33 Utilities 6,300        -               3,080        3,220        49%

01-4340-34 Printing 275           -               88             187           32%

01-4340-35 Maint & Repair - Equipment 6,500        -               850           5,650        13%

01-4340-40 Dues & Subscriptions 3,675        -               1,841        1,834        50%

01-4340-44 Contracted Services 10,000      -               5,187        4,813        52%

01-4340-45 Insurance & Bonds 9,802        -               9,532        270           97% 19

598,990  16,500     304,981  277,509  54%

Notes:

19 Paid once annually at the beginning of the Fiscal Year

20 Intake relief valves on E571, R57 valves and A/C Repair, Preventative Maintenance

21 Rescue 57 items - Fire Stipend, Turn Out Gear encumbered

Fire:
Account

Page 7
Town of Granite Quarry Page 25



Granite Quarry Finance Department As of December 31, 2022

Budget Encum. YTD Variance % Notes

01-4510-18 Professional Services 2,425        -             2,422        3               100% 22

01-4510-29 Supplies & Equipment 975           -             35             940           4%

01-4510-39 Maint & Repair 10,000      -             5,500        4,500         55% 23

01-4510-55 Cap Outlay - Equipment 9,000        -             7,160        1,840         80% 24

01-4510-71 Debt Service - Principal 50,000      -             25,000      25,000       50%

01-4510-72 Debt Services - Interest 7,225        -             3,802        3,423         53%

01-4510-99 Unappropriated Fund Balance 9,677        -             -            9,677         0%

01-4511-33 Utilities - Street Lights 36,500      -             17,391      19,109       48%

01-4511-58 Cap Outlay - Bldg/Infrastructure 300           -             -            300           0%

126,102  -             61,309     64,793     49%

Notes:

22 Powell Bill maps paid for once annually

23 Timber Run sink hole repair 

24 Snow Plow

Budget Encum. YTD Variance % Notes

01-4710-44 Contracted Services 175,000     -             88,148      86,852       50%

175,000  -             88,148     86,852     50%

Notes:

Budget Encum. YTD Variance % Notes

01-6130-24 Maint & Repair - Bldgs/Grounds 26,000 3,050      9,579        13,371       49%

01-6130-29 Supplies & Equipment 8,400        -         1,900        6,500         23%

01-6130-32 Telephone/Communications 1,650        -         273           1,377         17%

01-6130-33 Utilities 16,900      -         7,075        9,825         42%

01-6130-44 Contracted Services 1,500        -         -            1,500         0%

01-6130-62 Committees - PERC 22,500      -         10,507      11,993       47%

76,950     3,050    29,334     44,566     42%

Notes:

Account

Account

Account

Streets:

Sanitation:

Parks & Rec:

Page 8
Town of Granite Quarry Page 26



Granite Quarry Finance Department As of December 31, 2022

Acct# July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb March April May June Interest YTD Invested Balance
Certificates of Deposits:
XX7779 418.18    432.13    432.13      -             -             -            -          -          -          -          -          -          1,282.44           Matured

418.18    432.13    432.13      -             -             -            -          -          -          -          -          -          1,282.44$         -$                         

Money Market Accounts:
XX9011 126.75    124.59    49.98        38.52        56.62        58.53        -          -          -          -          -          -          454.99              153,167.63             
XX1186 5.32        5.32        5.49           11.51        18.03        18.64        -          -          -          -          -          -          64.31                62,708.71               
ARPA 19.23      28.76      -             -             closed closed -          -          -          -          -          -          47.99                Closed

151.30    158.67    55.47        50.03        74.65        77.17        -          -          -          -          -          -          567.29$            215,876.34$           

NC Capital Management Trust:
XX4319 65.72      396.81    4,372.14   6,738.04   8,006.15   9,206.53  -          -          -          -          -          -          28,785.39         2,779,830.29          

65.72      396.81    4,372.14   6,738.04   8,006.15   9,206.53  -          -          -          -          -          -          28,785.39$      2,779,830.29$        

Totals 30,635.12$ 2,995,707$       

Total Invested Balance 2,995,707$       
Cash Balance (As of 12/31/22) 356,089$    
Minus Outstanding Transactions (As of 12/31/22) (26,515)$     

Total Reconciled Cash Balance 329,574$          
Total Available Funds 3,325,280$       

Interest on Investments by Month
FY 2022-2023

Page 9
Town of Granite Quarry Page 27



Quarterly Project Reports As of December 31, 2022

REVENUES

Amended 
Project 

Authorization
Total To Date

 21/22
Projected 

04-3613-26 Federal Emergency Management Agency Grant 576,286$           502,170$           6,161                 
04-3613-36 NC Division of Emergency Management Grant 192,095             167,390             2,054                 

Total Revenues 768,381            669,560            8,214                

04-3981-96 Transfer from General Fund -                     -                     -                     
Total Other Financing Sources -                     -                     -                     

768,381            669,560            8,214                

04-6130-18 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
Engineer or Architect Fees 174,250             166,037             8,214                 

Total Personnel 174,250            166,037            8,214                

04-6130-69 CAP OUTLAY - BLDG, STRUCT, OTHER
Construction Cost 547,619$           503,524$           -                     

Contingency (10%) 46,512               -$                   -                     
Total Capital Outlay 594,131            503,524            -                     

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 768,381$          669,560$          8,214                

TOTAL FINANCING SOURCES OVER EXPENDITURES -$                   -$                   -                     

EXPENDITURES

Town of Granite Quarry, North Carolina
Capital Project Ordinance # 2020-04

FEMA Grant - Granite Lake Repairs
Inception 3/2/2020

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

TOTAL REVENUES AND OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

Page 10
Town of Granite Quarry Page 28



Quarterly Project Reports As of December 31, 2022

Project 
Authorization

Total To Date
Projected by
Completion

07-3301-23 CSLRF Funds (ARPA Funds) 959,917             959,917             -                          
07-3831-89 Interest on Investment - ARPA -                          413                     

Total Revenues 959,917            960,330            -                         

959,917            960,330            -                         

07-9810-96 Transfer Out - General Fund 959,917             960,330             -                          
Total Personnel 959,917            960,330            -                         

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 959,917            960,330            -                         

TOTAL FINANCING SOURCES OVER EXPENDITURES -$                   -$                   -$                   

EXPENDITURES

Town of Granite Quarry, North Carolina
Capital Project Ordinance # 2021-13
American Rescue Plan Act Fund

Inception 8/9/2021

REVENUES

TOTAL REVENUES AND OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

Page 11
Town of Granite Quarry Page 29



Town of Granite Quarry 

Town Manager's Report 

January 2023 

1. Granite Industrial Park Sign. (Attachment A)

Townof 

GRANITE QUARRY 
Be an original town. 

It of course still needs fine-tuning, but overall the preliminary costing design seems to capture very

well what the Master Plan's concept for gateway signs calls for.

Estimated cost:

• $66,000 with branding-correct slab granite sign backgrounds & dimensional metal lettering

• $53,000 with metal background

Funding plan: 

EDC advises that if/once the Town Board approves, they will help put together a funding plan (e.g., 

made up of the town, TDA, county, industrial park tenants, etc} as we finalize design details. 

2. TAP (Transportation Alternatives Program) funds.
3 project applications were submitted:

(Attachment B) 

Jurisdiction 

Granite Quarry 

Concord 

Harrisburg 

Project 

Sidewalks 

Sidewalks 

Sidewalk 

Federal Match Request 

$ 438,912 
$1,300,000 
$1,662,400 

Application reviews are scheduled before: TCC (Professional Staff) 

TAC (Elected Officials} 

3. Staff & Volunteer (and Families) Appreciation Day.
A. Tentatively set for Saturday, April 29th at the Civic Park.

B. Food truck(s} and family games.

C. Any additional BOA feedback so far?

January 18th

January 25th 

4. Events Committee. (Attachment C)

We'll continue working on the long-term organizational structure goals for Parks, Events,

Revitalization, Board input, etc as the Parks & Rec component of the Transformational Projects

consulting kicks off this month. Reminder from December that in the meantime, if you know of

anyone interested in helping with any of the particular events the Town has scheduled (see attached),

please let Aubrey or Debbie know.

5. UDO questions / joint meeting. Process is continuing steadily and on schedule. I was asked to

follow up on several questions following the last PB meeting.

Q. When/ how should BOA members pose questions or feedback about UDO materials?

A. Email any questions or feedback to Aubrey. She & staff will answer any that we can, and she will

compile/ combine anything otherwise as the point person to/for N-Focus.

Q. Ask Rick about having at least one of these meetings as a joint meeting of PB/BOA.

A. "We should do that once we get everything introduced so they have a total draft (maybe in March}."

Town of Granite Quarry Page 30



� 

G� �

-t 

Granite Industrial Park 
Town Gateway I Park sign combo 
Costing Design from Town Master Plan 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 31



Town of Granite Quarry 

143 N Salisbury Avenue Granite Quarry, NC 28146 

PO Box 351 Granite Quarry, NC 28072 

704.279.5596 Office I 704.279.6648 Fax 

Phil Conrad 

cabarrus-Rowan MPO 

November 30, 2022 

57 Union Street South, #1013 

Concord, NC 28025 

RE: Transportation Alternatives Program 

Dear Mr. Conrad, 

Please find the Town of Granite Quarry's application for Transportation Alternatives Program (TAP) funds 

enclosed. We sincerely appreciate the opportunity and consideration. 

Applicant Information 

Legal Name: 

Contact: 

Address: 

Phone: 

Email: 

Project Information 

Project Name: 

Project Location: 

MTIP ID: 

Town of Granite Quarry 

Jason Hord, Public Works Director 

PO Box351 

143 North Salisbury Avenue, Granite Quarry NC 28072 

704-279-5596

jhord@graniteguarrync.gov 

Parks Sidewalk Connector: Granite Lake Park to Granite Civic Park 

Town of Granite Quarry, Rowan County, NC 

N/A 

Total Project Cost: $550,000.00 (includes local 20% match) 

Requested TAP Funds: $ 440,000.00 

Brief Project Description: 

This project will consist of 2,150 linear feet of S' sidewalk. This project comes after the town recently 

conducted studies for both its Parks & Recreation and Bicycle & Pedestrian master plans. The additional 

sidewalk will be new construction and allow pedestrians connectivity from Granite Lake Park, Granite 

Centennial Park and Granite Civic Park. The Town of Granite Quarry will administer the project and those 

c.osts have been budgeted.

Town of Granite Quarry Page 32



Project Needs/ Goals and Objectives 

The project is in the city limits of Granite Quarry, a town with a population of 3,102 as of 2022.Currently, 

Granite Quarry has three Town-owned parks that sit on approximately 20 acres of land. All the parks are 

preferred destinations for residents and visitors alike, however the pedestrian connectivity between the 

three has always presented a challenge. In 2022 the Board of Aldermen showed their commitment to 

the parks as well as the downtown with the adoption of the Parks and Recreation Master Plan and 

Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan. Both plans address concerns with connectivity within the town as it relates 

to the three parks. In 2014 the Carolina Thread Trail also adopted areas within both parks for which this 

project would allow connection. This project would go a long way in helping make Granite Quarry a 

more "walkable" community. 

Facilitates Multi�Modal Transportation 

The attached map outlines the proposed sidewalk installation and illustrates how the three parks could 

be connected via pedestrian traffic. The new sidewalks would provide a viable mode of transportation 

and a trail linkage to allow residents and visitors a safe, ADA compliant, well-lit travel connection 

between the parks. Currently most patrons will drive between the three parks, while others elect to 

walk in the streets due to the lack of sidewalks. Currently, there is no safe infrastructure to connect the 

parks and we feel this will help alleviate some of the vehicular traffic issues in town. 

Promotes Safety and Security 

The additional sidewalks would allow a safe and secure option for travel between parks. As referenced 

above, currently park goers must cross a very busy Highway 52, proceed to Kerns Street that has no 

sidewalks and cross North Main Street to access a sidewalk again. However, once the pedestrian turns 

onto Crook Street and North Oak Street there are once again no sidewalks available, and pedestrians are 

forced to walk on the side of the road creating safety concerns. This proposal addresses those concerns. 

Documented Project/Program Support 

The Town of Granite Quarry is committed to funding the financial match to complete this project. The 

estimated project is set to cost $550,000, of which the town will match 20% and cover any project over

runs. The Town of Granite Quarry will administer the project and costs are budgeted. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 33



Proximity to Existing/ Planned Traffic Generators 

The parks are centralized and located within .5 miles of the town square. This area houses most of the 

downtown business that include-banks, restaurants, barber/beauty shops, auto repair, and churches to 

name a few. These additional sidewalk connections would bring all those places into a connected loop 

and allow pedestrian traffic to flow more easily. Granite Quarry is committed to responsible growth. The 

town has several parcels that developers are submitting plans to develop for increased residential units. 

The town also hosts events at the parks. The logistics of parking of one's vehicle and walking between 

the parks is currently non-existent and this proposal will also help manage that issue. 

Innovation 

Our town fire department works tirelessly with the SAFE KIDS of NC group and is the representative for 

Rowan County currently. This allows our fire department to work with our youth to discuss-bike safety, 

smoke alarm safety, and basic general safety. These events typically are held at one of the parks. While 

the parks are close in proximity to one another, the additional sidewalks will allow easier access from 

one to the other. Currently not many of our youth travel between the parks. The additions will make 

that a more encouraging and safer commute. The sidewalk linkage would also allow the towns 

elementary school a safe route from the school to all of the parks. 

Attachments: 

Map 

Cost Estimate from Engineers 

Letters of Support 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 34



GRANITE QUARRY 

SIDEWALK PROJECTS 

nm 111111, wlllllffll. cannen, & kfnll, Inc. 

CONSULTING ENGINEERS 

PIRM \JCEN$E• F-0:ZQS 

120 SOlfflt ldAIN Sl"REET 

IWINAPOUS,Nc:'80<2 

P.0,BOX1J48 
�1515 

RaMn County,Granila Qua,ry Ptojecla\11SOO OQ S�lca\ 
Prai-,,d 8lclewalk�rntd (MML) 4-4-14 

o eoo 1,200 Feet 

1 Inch • BOO feet 

DSQ.AIIIR:: lldtni•k....,...,tcn...nld.,_.,..._ 
tll:nllPI.IIUWil.OIMlnlltdcm1111.e,,clOlbW,calltl'9CClrdl•d 
dDINlwldOllredlclt,tt.111,MdlQc,reo-aes. Map&nt 
mcd_,�muabt�mcLIUdtyN ,___ 
*NllfflllflmlllnQIIICIM�lrlOlffl_,,.IOUl'!NIIIO,IICI 
bt�to'YO'tlQloat(IUnamelorco"llaiaodonilOCO 
n,ir,:1 AAJlril.N/tDC.r,,OVfdilllllmlWl'f'lmMl,.w,-.dtr 
�.aJnCltlilgr.,IC;Cl,lf'l(y.�•�or 
....,dl'a.._ Fwlltnnelrl.MIO< .... no.._, 
lillflmDlvll'eROCNl9ewit'11fDIJIIIO-IWUNdaidl dlll. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 35



® 

Estimate for Granite Quarry Sidewalk Projects alley, Williams, carmen & king, inc. 

[JI L I I J 
consulting engineers 

Date: October 31, 2022 

I .. "'!"" ... --. ..... ■ 120 s. main st. kannapolis, nc 28081
· "- * p.o. box 1248 kannapolis, nc 28082

D • « I p 704-938-1515

Estimated 

Design, 
Inspection, 

Project Length (Lf) Project Description LFcosts Construction 
R/W 

Total Costs 
(estimated at 

Kerns St (N Main St to US 52) 
N Oak St (Crook St to the park) 
Crook St (N Main St to N Oak St) 

OPINION OF PROBABLE COSTS: 

1330 S' sidewalk behind existing curb 
430 S' sidewalk behind existing curb 
390 sidewalk behind ditch 

Contingency/ NCOOT 
Total Project Cost 

Costs 
50%of 

construction) 
$ 120.00 $ 159,600.00 $ 79,800.00 $ 239,400.00 
$ 120.00 $ 51,600.00 $ 25,800.00 $ n,400.00 
$ 240.00 $ 93,600.00 $ 46,800.00 $ 140,400.00 

$ 304,800.00 $ 152,400.00 $ 457,200.00 
$ 91,440.00 
$ 548,640.00 

20% Town Match $ 109,728.00 
Requested TAP Funds $ 438,912.00 

THIS OPINION OF COSTS SHOULD BE USED AS A WORKING NUMBER FOR OBTAINING FUNDS AND 
NOT AS A GUARANTEE OF CONSTRUCTION COSTS. THE UNIT COSTS ARE BASED ON THE COST 
OF CONSTRUCTION OF SIMILAR JOBS IN THE AREA, AND INCREASES IN COSTS OF MATERIALS 
OR LABOR COULD AFFECT THE COST OF CONSTRUCTION. NO DESIGN HAS BEEN DONE FOR THIS 
PROJECT, THE QUANTITIES ARE FOR BUDGETING PURPOSES ONLY. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 36



RESOLUTION 2022w10 

A RESOLUTION OP THI BOARD OP ALDERMEN OF THE TOWN OF 
GRANITB QUARRY, NORTH CAROLINA, IN SUPPORT OF APPLICATION 

FOR TRANSPORTAnON ALTERNATIVis PROGRAM PONDS 

WHEREAS, Transportation Alternatives Program (TAP) funds ha"Ve been made available for 
transportation Improvements In our area; and

WHEREAS, The Town of Granite Quarry selected a project to submit to the Cabarrus-Rowan 
Metropolitan Planning Organization (CRMPO) for consideration and funding; and

WHEREAS, the selected project includes 2,150 linear feet of 5-foot sidewalk to connect the 
Granite Lake Park. the Granite Civic Park, and the Centennlal Park; and

WHEREAS, The Town of Granite Quarry hereby requests Federal TAP funding from the CRMPO 
Jn the amount of $440,000.00; and 

WHBREAS� The Town of Granite Quany acknowledges the required local match of no less than 
20% and the availability of funds to pay all upfronts costs, sJnce the program is a cost 
reimbursement program; and 

WHEREAS, The Town of Granite Quany agrees to pay any costs that exceed the project amount 
If the application Is selected for funding. 

NOW, THEREPORE, BB IT RESOLVED the Board of Aldermen of the Town of Granite Quarry 
acknowledges If said project Is selected for funding through the CRMPO selection process, said 
project is subject to all applicable Federal and State laws and regulations regarding TAP funding, as
well as subject to the rules and procedures established by the CRMPO regarding approved TAP 
projects. 

RESOLVED, APPROVED,AND BFRCTIVE UPON ADOPTION BY THE B�A}!!> OF ALDERMEN OF 
THE TOWN OF' GRANITE QUARRY, NORTH CAROLINA, ON Tms THB-1::CJ)AY OP� 2022. 

, -#v A • • • . :,\�v4-
� 

llrittany"H. �ar
, 

or 

·11 � \�,
� 

Clerk 
_/ 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 37



October 31, aoaa 

Phil Conrad. Director 
Cabarrus-Rowan MPO 
57 Union Street South. •1013 
Concord. NC 280�5 

CJlR9L.INJl 
THR6JlD 
TRJlIL. 

RE1 Letter of Support-Transportation Alternatives Funds for Granite Quar:ry Sidewalk Project 

Dear Mr. Conrad, 

On behalf of the Carolina Thread Trail staff and g0\lerning board, please accept this letter as our 
endorsement of the Town of Granite Quany's effort to obtain funding for a sidewalk project on 
N. Oak Street. Crook Street. and Xerns Street. between Civic Park and City La.lee Park.

The Carolina Thread Trail is a regional network of trails in fifteen counties and h\•o states. 
envisioned to serve a population of 2.5 million people. These trails will create a large. 
interconnected system that will improve the quality of1ife within local communities, including 
Granite Quarry. The Town participated in the development of the Carolina Thread Trail Master 
Plan for Rowan County, which includes segments throl1gh Civic Parle and other areas of town. 

The proposed sidewalk project will close gaps in the pedestrian network between 1\\-c, town 
parks, and thus \\-ill improve non-vehicular acceas to the Carolina Thread Trail for residents 
and visitors. This connection wiU magnify the benefits of prior network expenditures at the 
parks. Providing dedicated pedestrian facilities between these popular destinations can reduce 
driving trips to the parks. but also will reduce the exposure of pedestrians of all ages and 
abilities to severe injuiy and death by eliminating the need to use the street. 

For these reasons. the Carolina Thread Trail offers its enthusiastic support of the Town of 
Granite Quarry's application to fund the side"1alk project between Civic Park and City Lake Park. 
and "·e look fon1ard to the safety and transportation benefits that it "'ill provide this community. 

Thank you for your consideration. 

Kindest regards. 

Bret Baronak. Project Director 
Carolina Thread Trail 

4530 Park Fload, #420, Charlotte, NC 282Q9 P: 704.376.2556 I 1vw1v caro,hnathread1ra1l mg 
Town of Granite Quarry Page 38



November 7, 2022 

Phil Conrad-Director 
cabarrus-Rowan MPO 
57 Union St. South #1013 
Concord, NC 28025 

Dear Mr. Conrad-

A Tradition for Life 

I hope this letter finds you and your family well. Things are going well here for F&M Bank and the Town 
of Granite Quarry. Town of Granite Quarry leadership are making strides in various areas that are 
helping move things forward In a positive direction. I wanted to take few moments of your time and put 
my support behind the Initiative to connect the existing parks with sidewalks within the city limits of the 
Town of Granite Quarry. 

As the Town of Granite Quarry grows so does the use of our various parks. These parks are very close in 
proximity and with the addition of the proposed sfdewalks, it will provide a safe passage for our town 
residents. 

If I can be of any further assistance please feel free to contact me at (704)762-2277. 

Regards, 

f}r;t_d_ 
Robert M. Miller 
Vice President 
F&M Bank 

b 
Town of Granite Quarry Page 39



State Emplo ees' Cr�t Unio�, ____ ,.._ -�- �---= 

November 14. 2022 

Phil Conrad, Director 
Cabarrus. Rowan MPO 
57 Union Street South #1013 
Concord, NC 28025 

Dear Mr. Conrad:

Granite Quarry 

The State Employees' Credit Union Granite Quarry Branch would like to express its support 
of the Town of Granite Quarry's application to the Metropolitan Planning Organization for 
the funding of new sidewalks as we believe it would be a welcome addition to the town. 
We appreciate the opportunity to share our support of the project. 

ori Cinquemani 
Vice President/City 

970 Nonb Salisbury Ave. • P.C>. Rox 827 • (imn{le Quany. NC 28072 • 70-l.209.5538 
�,111::,a:cu_�,rg 

Equal Opport11.11//J' Emplo_,-er i•l!ls. disability 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 40



GQ Calendar of Important Dates - 2023 
Townof 

GRANITE QUARRY 
Be an original town. 

(Volunteer opportunities for events highlighted in yellow) 

March: 

Mulch Giveaway 

April: 

Yard of the Month starts (April thru September) 

NCDOT Litter Sweep 

Staff & Volunteer Banquet / Appreciation Day 

May: 

Arts in the Park 

Dumpster Days 

Rowan County BOE Primary 

June: 

*Family Fish 4 Fun

Aueu,st: 

*Family Fish 4 Fun

September: 

Yard of the Month ends (Apri_l thru September) 

Halloween Decorating Contest Kick Off 

October: 

Halloween Decorating Contest 

Fire Prevention Week 

GQFD Auxiliary Porta-Pit Chicken 

Granite Fest 

November: 

Christmas Decorating Contest Kick Off 

Rowan County BOE Election Day 2023 

Toy Drive (November - December) 

Festival of Trees for Christmas at the Lake 

December: 

Christmas Decorating Contest 

Christmas at the Lake 

Saturday, March 25, 8am-12pm 

TBD 

Saturday, April 29 

Saturday, May 6, 12pm-5p:r:n 

Thurs-Fri, May 1 h-12, 9am.:-3pm; Sat, May 13, 8am-12pm 

Tuesday, May 16 

Saturday, June _, 9am-l pm (TBD, contingent on stock)

Saturday, August _, 6pm-9pm (TBD, contingent on stock)

October 8-14 

October 14 

Saturday, October 21 

Tuesday, November 7 

(Set up Nov 24 - Dec 1) 

Saturday, December 2, 2pm-7pm 

,4rrACJl,4AGNr@
Town of Granite Quarry Page 41



Agenda Item Summary 
Regular Meeting 
January 9, 2023 
Agenda Item 5                                    Rules of Procedure 

          
 
 

Summary: 
 

The drafted Rules of Procedure were presented at the Board’s 
December 12, 2022 meeting. Staff requests that the Board of Aldermen 
discuss and decide on amendments to the document before adoption. 
 
 
 
 
Attachments: 

• Draft Rules of Procedure 

Action Requested: 
Motion to adopt Rules of Procedure with amendments. 

Motion Made By: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  

Second By: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  
 
 

 

For: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  

Against: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  

 
 
In case of tie: 
Mayor Brittany Barnhardt 
 For              

 Against      
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 42



Rules of Procedure 
for the Board of Aldermen  

of the Town of Granite Quarry 
 

Part I. Applicability  
Rule 1. Applicability of Rules 
These rules apply to all meetings of the Town of Granite Quarry’s Board of Aldermen. For purposes of 
these rules, a meeting of the board occurs whenever a majority of the board’s members gather, whether 
in person or simultaneously by electronic means, to conduct hearings, deliberate, vote, or otherwise 
transact public business within the board’s real or apparent jurisdiction. The term “majority” as used 
here and elsewhere in these rules means, unless otherwise specified, a simple majority, that is, more than 
half. 
 

Part II. Quorum 
Rule 2. Quorum 
The presence of a quorum is necessary for the board to conduct business. A majority of the board’s ac-
tual membership plus the mayor, excluding vacant seats, constitutes a quorum. A member who with-
draws from a meeting without being excused by majority vote of the remaining members in attendance 
is deemed present for quorum purposes. 
 

Part III. Open Meetings 
Rule 3. Remote Participation in Board Meetings 
No member who is not physically present for a board meeting may participate in the meeting by elec-
tronic means except in accordance with a policy adopted by the board.  
(Remote Participation Policy 2020-01 adopted 4/3/2020)  
 

Rule 4. Meetings to Be Open to the Public 
Except as permitted by Rule 5, all meetings of the board shall be open to the public, and any person may 
attend its meetings. 
 

Rule 5. Closed Sessions 
(a) Motion to Enter Closed Session. The town board may enter a closed session from which the public 
is excluded only upon a motion duly made and adopted in open session. The motion to enter closed ses-
sion must cite one or more of the permissible bases for closed session listed in paragraph (b) of this rule. 
A motion to enter closed session under subparagraph (b)(1) or (b)(2) must contain the additional infor-
mation specified in those provisions. 
 
 
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 43



(b) Bases for Closed Session. A closed session is permissible under the following circumstances and no 
others: 

(1) To prevent the disclosure of information that is privileged or confidential pursuant to the law of 
North Carolina or of the United States or that does not constitute a public record within the 
meaning of Chapter 132 of the General Statutes. The motion to enter closed session must name or 
cite the law that renders the information confidential or privileged. 

 (2) To consult with the town attorney or another attorney employed or retained by the town in order to 
preserve the attorney–client privilege. If the board expects to discuss a pending lawsuit with its 
attorney, the motion to enter closed session must include the names of the parties to the lawsuit. 

 (3) To discuss matters relating to (a) the location or expansion of industries or other businesses in the 
area served by the town or (b) the closure or realignment of a military installation. The board may 
reach agreement in closed session on a tentative list of economic development incentives to be 
offered in negotiations, but the approval of the signing of any economic development contract or 
commitment and the authorization of the payment of economic development expenditures must 
take place in open session. 

 (4) To establish or instruct staff or agents concerning the town’s position in negotiating the price or 
other material terms of an agreement for the acquisition of real property by purchase, exchange, or 
lease. 

 (5) To establish or instruct staff or agents concerning the amount of compensation or other material 
terms of an employment contract. 

 (6) To consider the qualifications, competence, performance, character, fitness, or conditions of 
appointment or employment of a public officer or employee or prospective public officer or 
employee, except when the individual in question is a member of the town board or other public 
body or is being considered to fill a vacancy on the town board or other public body. Final action 
to appoint or employ a public officer or employee must take place in open session. 

 (7) To hear or investigate a charge or complaint by or against a public officer or employee. Final 
action discharging an employee or removing an officer must occur in open session. 

 (8) To plan, conduct, or hear reports concerning investigations of alleged criminal misconduct. 
 (9) To view a law enforcement recording released pursuant to G.S. 132-1.4A. 

 (10) On any other basis permitted by law. 

 (c) Closed Session Participants. Unless the board directs otherwise, the town manager, town attorney, 
and town clerk may attend closed sessions of the board. No other person may attend a closed session 
unless invited by majority vote of the board. 

 (d) Motion to Return to Open Session. Upon completing its closed session business, the board shall 
end the closed session by adopting a duly made motion to return to open session. 

 

Rule 6. Meeting Minutes 
(a) Minutes Required for All Meetings. The board must keep full and accurate minutes of all of its 
meetings, including closed sessions. To be “full and accurate,” minutes must record all actions taken by 
the board. They should set out the precise wording of each motion and make it possible to determine the 
number of votes cast for and against each motion. The minutes need not record discussions of the board, 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 44



though the board in its discretion may decide to incorporate such details into the minutes. 

 (b) Record of “Ayes” and “Noes.” At the request of any member of the board, the minutes shall list 
each member by name and record how each member voted on a particular matter. 

 (c) General Accounts of Closed Sessions. In addition to minutes, the board must keep a general ac-
count of each closed session. The general account must be sufficiently detailed to provide a person not 
in attendance with a reasonable understanding of what transpired. The board may combine the minutes 
and general account of a closed session into one document, so long as the document contains both a 
complete record of actions taken and the level of detail required for a general account. 

 (d) Sealing Closed Session Records. Minutes and general accounts of closed sessions shall be sealed 
until unsealed by order of the board or, if the board delegates the authority to unseal to one or more staff 
members, in accordance with guidelines adopted by the board. The sealed minutes and general account 
of any closed session may be withheld from public inspection so long as public inspection would frus-
trate the purpose(s) of the closed session. 

 

Rule 7. Broadcasting and Recording Meetings 
(a) Right to Broadcast and Record. Any person may photograph, film, tape-record, or otherwise re-
produce any part of a board meeting that must take place in open session. Except as provided in para-
graph (c) of this rule, any radio or television station may broadcast any such part of a board meeting. 

 (b) Advance Notice. Any radio or television station that plans to broadcast any portion of a board meet-
ing shall so notify the town clerk or town manager/ no later than twenty-four hours before the meeting. 
The failure to provide notice is not, by itself, grounds for preventing the broadcast of a board meeting. 

(c) Equipment Placement. The town manager may regulate the placement and use of camera or record-
ing equipment in order to prevent undue interference with a board meeting, so long as he or she allows 
the equipment to be placed where it can carry out its intended function. If the town manager determines 
in good faith that the equipment and personnel necessary to broadcast, photograph, or record the meet-
ing cannot be accommodated without undue interference to the meeting, and an adequate alternative 
meeting room is not readily available, the town manager may require the pooling of the equipment and 
the personnel operating it. 

(d) Alternative Meeting Site. If the news media request an alternative meeting site to accommodate 
news coverage, and the board grants the request, the news media making the request shall pay the costs 
incurred by the town in securing an alternative meeting site. 

 

Part IV. Organization of the Board 
Rule 8. Organizational Meeting; Selection of Mayor Pro Tempore 
(a) Scheduling Organizational Meeting. The board must hold an organizational meeting following 
each general election in which board members are elected. The organizational meeting must be held ei-
ther (1) on the date and at the time of the board’s first regular meeting in December following the elec-
tion or (2) at an earlier date, if any, set by the incumbent board. The organizational meeting may not be 
held before municipal election results are officially determined, certified, and published as required by 
law. 

 (b) Oath of Office. As the first order of business at the organizational meeting, all newly elected mem-

Town of Granite Quarry Page 45



bers of the board must take and subscribe the oath of office set out in Article VI, Section 7, of the North 
Carolina Constitution. Each member’s oath must be filed with the town clerk. Although a member who 
is not present for the organizational meeting may take the oath of office at another time, every member 
must take, subscribe, and file the oath before he or she begins performing any of the duties of the mem-
ber’s office. 

 (c) Selection of Mayor Pro Tempore. As the second order of business at the organizational meeting, 
the board shall elect from among its members a mayor pro tempore using the procedures specified in 
Rule 38. The mayor pro tempore shall serve at the board’s pleasure. 

 

Part V. Types of Meetings 
Rule 9. Regular Meetings 
(a) Regular Meeting Schedule. The board shall hold a regular meeting on the second Monday of each 
month, except that if a regular meeting day is a legal holiday, the meeting shall be held on the next busi-
ness day. The meeting shall be held at 143 N. Salisbury Ave. in downtown Granite Quarry and begin at 
6:00 p.m. The board shall adopt a meeting schedule each year consistent with this rule. A copy of the 
board’s current meeting schedule shall be filed with the town clerk and posted on the town’s website. 

 (b) Change to Meeting Schedule. Notwithstanding paragraph (a) of this rule, the board may amend its 
regular meeting schedule to add or delete meetings or to change the date, time, or location of one or 
more meetings on the schedule. The amended schedule shall be filed with the town clerk at least sev-
en (7) calendar days before the day of the first meeting held pursuant to the revised schedule and posted 
on the town’s website. 

 

Rule 10. Special Meetings 
(a) Calling Special Meetings. A special meeting of the board may be called by the mayor, the mayor 
pro tempore, or any two board members. A special meeting may also be called by vote of the board in 
open session during a regular meeting or another duly called special meeting. 

 (b) Notice to the Public. At least forty-eight hours before a special meeting of the board, notice of the 
date, time, place, and purpose of the meeting shall be (1) posted on the board’s principal bulletin board 
or, if the board has no such board, at the door of the board’s usual meeting room and (2) delivered, e-
mailed, or mailed to each newspaper, wire service, radio station, television station, and person who has 
filed a written request for notice with the town clerk. Furthermore, if the board has a website maintained 
by at least one town employee, notice of the special meeting’s date, time, place, and purpose shall be 
posted on the website in advance of the meeting. 

 (c) Notice to Members. 
(1) Meeting called by the mayor, the mayor pro tempore, or any two board members. At least forty-

eight hours before a special meeting called by the mayor, the mayor pro tempore, or any two board 
members, written notice of the meeting stating its date, time, and place, as well as the subjects to 
be considered, shall be delivered to the mayor and each board member or left at his or her usual 
dwelling place. 

(2) Meeting called by vote of the board in open session. When a special meeting is called by vote of 
the board in open session during a regular meeting or another duly called special meeting, the 
motion or resolution calling the special meeting shall state the meeting’s date, time, place, and 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 46



purpose. Written notice of the special meeting’s date, time, place, and purpose shall be mailed or 
delivered at least forty-eight hours before the meeting to each board member not present for the 
meeting at which the special meeting was called, and to the mayor if he or she was not present at 
that meeting. 

 (d) Transacting Other Business. Even when all members are present or any absent member has signed 
a waiver, the board may take up an item of business not covered by the notice only if the board first de-
termines in good faith that the item must be discussed or acted upon immediately. 

 

Rule 11. Emergency Meetings 
(a) Grounds for Emergency Meeting. Emergency meetings of the town board may be called only to 
address generally unexpected circumstances demanding the board’s immediate attention. 

(b) Calling Emergency Meetings. There are two methods by which an emergency meeting of the board 
may be called. 

(1) The mayor, the mayor pro tempore, or any two members of the board may at any time call an 
emergency board meeting by signing a written notice stating the date, time, and place of the 
meeting and the subjects to be considered. The notice shall be delivered to the mayor and each 
board member or left at his or her usual dwelling place at least six hours before the meeting. 

(2) An emergency meeting may be held when the mayor and all members of the board are present and 
consent thereto, or when any absent member has signed a written waiver of notice. 

(c) Notice to Media of Emergency Meetings. Notice of an emergency meeting shall be given to each 
local newspaper, local wire service, local radio station, and local television station that has filed a writ-
ten request with the town clerk for notice of emergency meetings. To be valid, the request must include 
the newspaper’s, wire service’s, or station’s telephone number. Notice may be given by telephone, e-
mail, or the same method used to notify board members. Notice must be provided immediately after 
board members have been notified and at the expense of the party notified. 

(d) Transaction of Other Business Prohibited. Only business connected with the emergency may be 
considered at an emergency meeting. 

 
Rule 12. Recessed Meetings 
(a) Calling Recessed Meetings. When conducting a properly called regular, special, or emergency 
meeting, the board may recess the meeting to another date, time, or place by a procedural motion made 
and adopted, as provided in Rule 31, Motion 3, in open session. The motion must state the time (includ-
ing the date, if the meeting will resume on a different day) and place at which the meeting will recon-
vene. 

(b) Notice of Recessed Meetings. If the board has a website maintained by one or more town employee, 
notice of the recessed meeting’s date, time, and place must appear on the webpage prior to the meeting. 
No further notice of a properly called recessed meeting is required. 

 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 47



Part VI. Agenda 
Rule 13. Agenda 
(a) Draft Agenda.  

(1) Preparation. The town manager and/or the town clerk shall prepare a draft agenda in advance of 
each meeting of the town board. 

(2) Requesting placement of items on draft agenda. For a regular meeting, a request to have an item of 
business placed on the draft agenda must be received by the town manager or the town clerk at 
least twelve days before the date of the meeting. The town manager and/or town clerk must place 
an item on the draft agenda in response to a board member’s timely request. 

(3) Supplemental information/materials. If the council is expected to consider a proposed ordinance or 
ordinance amendment, a copy of the proposed ordinance or amendment shall be attached to the 
draft agenda. An agenda package shall be prepared that includes, for each item of business listed 
on the draft agenda, as much background information on the topic as is available and feasible to 
provide. 

(4) Delivery to board members. Each board member shall receive a hard or electronic copy of the draft 
agenda and the agenda package. Except in the case of an emergency meeting, the agenda and 
agenda package shall be furnished to each member at least twenty-four hours before the meeting. 

(5) Public inspection. The draft agenda and agenda package shall be available to the public when the 
documents are ready to be, or have been, circulated. 

(b) Adoption of the Agenda. 
(1) Adoption. As its first order of business at each meeting, the board shall review the draft agenda, 

make whatever revisions it deems appropriate, and adopt a formal agenda for the meeting. 
(2) Amending the agenda. Both before and after it adopts the agenda, the board may add or subtract 

agenda items by majority vote of the members present and voting, except that the board may not 
add to the items stated in the notice of a special meeting unless the requirements in Rule 10(d) are 
satisfied and only business connected with the emergency may be considered at an emergency 
meeting. 

(3) Designation of items “For Discussion and Possible Action.” The board may designate an agenda 
item “for discussion and possible action.” The designation signifies that the board intends to 
discuss the item and may, if it so chooses, take action on the item following the discussion. 

(c) Consent Agenda. The board may designate part of an agenda for a regular meeting as the consent 
agenda. Items may be placed on the consent agenda by the person(s) charged with preparing the draft 
agenda if the items are judged to be noncontroversial and routine. Prior to the board’s adoption of the 
meeting agenda under subparagraph (b)(1) of this rule, the request of any member to have an item 
moved from the consent agenda to unfinished business must be honored by the board. All items on the 
consent agenda must be voted on and adopted by a single motion, with the minutes reflecting the motion 
and vote for each item. 

(d) Informal Discussion of Agenda Items. The board may informally discuss an agenda item even 
when no motion regarding that item is pending. 

 

Rule 14. Acting by Reference to Agenda or Other Document 
The board shall not deliberate, vote, or otherwise take action on any matter by reference to the agenda or 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 48

Aubrey Smith
Highlight



any other document with the intention of preventing persons in attendance from understanding what ac-
tion is being considered or undertaken. The board may deliberate and vote by reference to the agenda or 
any item on the agenda, including the consent agenda, provided copies of the agenda are available for 
public inspection at the meeting and are sufficiently worded to enable the public to understand what is 
being deliberated or acted upon. 
 

Rule 15. Agenda Items from Members of the Public 
If a member of the public wishes to request that the board include an item on its regular meeting agenda, 
he or she must submit the request to the town clerk and/or town manager by the deadline specified in 
Rule 13(a)(2). The board is not obligated to place an item on the agenda merely because such a request 
has been received. 
 

Rule 16. Order of Business 
Items shall be placed on a regular meeting agenda according to the order of business. The usual order of 
business for each regular meeting shall be as follows: 

• adoption of the agenda, 
• approval of the consent agenda, 
• approval of the previous meeting minutes, 
• administrative reports, 
• committee reports, 
• public comments, 
• public hearings, 
• unfinished old business, and 
• new business. 

Without objection, the mayor may call agenda items in any order most convenient for the dispatch of 
business. 

 

Part VII. Role of the Presiding Officer 
Rule 17. The Mayor 
(a) Presiding Officer. When present, the mayor shall preside at meetings of the board. 

(b) Right to Vote. The mayor may vote only when an equal number of affirmative and negative votes 
have been cast. 

(c) Recognition of Members. A member must be recognized by the mayor (or other presiding officer) 
in order to address the board, but recognition is not necessary for an appeal pursuant to Rule 31, Mo-
tion 1. 

(d) Powers as Presiding Officer. As presiding officer, the mayor is to enforce these rules and maintain 
order and decorum during board meetings. To that end, the mayor may 

(1) rule on points of parliamentary procedure, to include ruling out of order any motion clearly offered 
for obstructive or dilatory purposes; 

(2) determine whether a member or other speaker has gone beyond reasonable standards of courtesy in 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 49



his or her remarks and entertain and rule on objections from other members on this ground; 
(3) entertain and answer questions of parliamentary procedure; 
(4) call a brief recess at any time; and 
(5) adjourn in an emergency. 

(e) Appeals of Procedural Rulings. A member may appeal a decision made or answer given by the 
mayor under subparagraph (d)(1), (2), or (3) in accordance with Rule 31, Motion 1. 

 

Rule 18. The Mayor Pro Tempore 
(a) Presiding in Mayor’s Absence. When present, the mayor pro tempore shall preside over board 
meetings in the mayor’s absence with all the powers specified in Rule 17(d). 

(b) Delegation of Mayor’s Powers/Duties. In the mayor’s absence, the board may confer on the mayor 
pro tempore any of the mayor’s powers and duties. Likewise, if the mayor becomes physically or men-
tally unable to perform the duties of his or her office, the board may by unanimous vote declare the 
mayor incapacitated and confer any of the mayor’s powers and duties on the mayor pro tempore. When 
the mayor announces that he or she is no longer incapacitated, and a majority of the board concurs, the 
mayor shall resume the exercise of his or her powers and duties. 

(c) Duty to Vote. Even when presiding over a board meeting, the mayor pro tempore has the same duty 
as other members to vote on all questions unless he or she has been excused from voting on a matter in 
accordance with Rule 28. 

 

Rule 19. Other Presiding Officer 
If both the mayor and mayor pro tempore are absent, the board may elect from among its members a 
temporary presiding officer to chair the meeting. While serving as temporary presiding officer, a mem-
ber has the powers listed in Rule 17(d). Service as a temporary presiding officer does not relieve a 
member of the duty to vote on all questions unless excused from voting pursuant to Rule 28. 
 

Rule 20. When the Presiding Officer Is Active in Debate 
If the mayor becomes active in debate on a particular proposal, he or she [may] [must] have the mayor 
pro tempore preside during the board’s consideration of the matter. If the mayor pro tempore is absent or 
is also actively debating the matter, the mayor [may] [must] designate another member to preside until 
the matter is concluded. Similarly, if the mayor pro tempore or a temporary presiding officer is presiding 
and takes an active part in debating a topic, he or she [may] [must] designate another board member to 
preside temporarily. 
 

Part VIII. Motions and Voting 
Rule 21. Action by the Board 
Except as otherwise provided in these rules, the board shall act by motion. Any member may make a 
motion, not including the mayor. 
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 50



Rule 22. Second Required 
A second is required on every motion, with the exception of a point of privilege, a point of order, or a 
request for information. 
 

Rule 23. One Motion at a Time 
A member may make only one motion at a time. 
 

Rule 24. Withdrawal of Motion 
The member who introduces a motion may withdraw the motion unless the motion has been amended or 
the presiding officer has put the motion to a vote. 
 

Rule 25. Debate 
The presiding officer shall state the motion and then open the floor to debate, presiding over the debate 
according to the principles listed below. 

• The maker of the motion is entitled to speak first. 
• A member who has not spoken on the issue shall be recognized before a member who has 

already spoken. 
• To the extent practicable, the debate shall alternate between proponents and opponents of the 

measure. 

Rule 26. Adoption by Majority Vote 
A motion is adopted if supported by a simple majority of the votes cast, a quorum being present, except 
when a larger majority is required by these rules or state law. 
 

Rule 27. Changing a Vote 
A member may change his or her vote on a motion at any time before the presiding officer announces 
whether the motion has passed or failed. Once the presiding officer announces the result, a member may 
not change his or her vote without the unanimous consent of the remaining members present. A mem-
ber’s request for unanimous consent to change a vote is not in order unless made immediately following 
the presiding officer’s announcement of the result. 
 

Rule 28. Duty to Vote 
(a) Duty to Vote. Every board member must vote except when excused from voting as provided by this 
rule. 

(b) Grounds for Excusal. A member may be excused from voting on a matter involving the member’s 
own financial interest or official conduct, though not if the proposal in question is one to alter the com-
pensation or allowances paid to board members. Members may also be excused from voting when pro-
hibited from voting under G.S. 14-234 (contract providing direct benefit to member), G.S.  160D-109(a) 
(legislative zoning decision likely to have a direct, substantial, and readily identifiable financial impact 
on member), or G.S.  160D-109(d) (member’s participation in quasi-judicial decision would violate af-
fected person’s right to an impartial decision maker). Questions about whether a basis for excusal exists 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 51



should be directed to the town attorney. 

(c) Procedure for Excusal. 
(1) At member’s request. Upon being recognized at a duly called meeting of the board, a member who 

wishes to be excused from voting shall so inform the presiding officer, who must then submit the 
matter to a vote of the remaining members present. If a majority of the remaining members present 
vote to excuse the member, the member is excused from voting on the matter. 

(2) On board’s initiative. Even when a member has not asked to be excused from voting on a matter, a 
majority of the remaining board members present may by motion and vote excuse the member 
from voting if grounds for doing so exist under paragraph (b). 

(d) Consequence of Non-Excused Failure to Vote. Except as specified in paragraph (e), if a member 
who has not been excused from voting fails to vote on a matter, the member’s failure to vote shall be 
recorded as an affirmative vote, provided 

(1) the member is physically present in the board room or 
(2) the member has physically withdrawn from the meeting without being excused by majority vote of 

the remaining members present. 

(e) Failure to Vote on Certain Zoning Matters. A member’s unexcused failure to vote shall not be 
recorded as an affirmative vote if the motion concerns a proposal to amend, supplement, or repeal a zon-
ing ordinance. Instead, the member’s unexcused failure to vote shall be recorded as an abstention. 

Rule 29. Voting by Written Ballot 
(a) Secret Ballots Prohibited. The board may not vote by secret ballot. 

(b) Rules for Written Ballots. The board may decide by majority vote or unanimous consent to vote on 
a motion by written ballot. Each member must sign his or her ballot, and the minutes must record how 
each member voted by name. The ballots must be made available for public inspection in the town 
clerk’s office immediately following the meeting at which the vote took place and remain there until the 
minutes of that meeting are approved, at which time the ballots may be destroyed. 

 

Rule 30. Substantive Motions 
A substantive motion is not in order if made while another motion is pending. Once the board disposes 
of a substantive motion, it may not take up a motion that presents essentially the same issue at the same 
meeting, unless it first adopts a motion to reconsider pursuant to Rule 31, Motion 14. 
 

Rule 31. Procedural Motions 
(a) Certain Motions Allowed. The board may consider only those procedural motions listed in this rule. 
Unless otherwise noted, each procedural motion may be debated and amended and requires a majority of 
votes cast, a quorum being present, for adoption. 

(b) Priority of Motions. The procedural motions set out in this paragraph are listed in order of priority. 
A procedural motion is not in order so long as another procedural motion of higher priority is pending, 
except that 

• any procedural motion other than an appeal under Motion 1 is subject to amendment as provided 
in Motion 12, and 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 52



• a motion to call the question (end debate) may be made with regard to any procedural motion in 
accordance with Motion 9. 

When several procedural motions are pending, voting must begin with the procedural motion highest in 
priority, provided that a motion to amend or end debate on the highest priority motion must be voted on 
first. 

Motion 1. To Appeal a Ruling of the Presiding Officer. Any member may appeal the presiding of-
ficer’s ruling on whether a motion is in order or on whether a speaker has violated reasonable standards 
of courtesy. The presiding officer’s response to a question of parliamentary procedure may also be ap-
pealed by any member. An appeal is in order immediately after the disputed ruling or parliamentary re-
sponse and at no other time. The member who moves to appeal need not be recognized by the presiding 
officer, and if timely made, the motion may not be ruled out of order. 

Motion 2. To Adjourn. This motion may be used to close a meeting. It is not in order if the board is 
in closed session. 

Motion 3. To Recess to a Time and Place Certain. This motion may be used to call a recessed meet-
ing as permitted under Rule 12. The motion must state the time (including the date, if the meeting will 
reconvene on a different day) and place at which the meeting will resume. The motion is not in order if 
the board is in closed session. 

Motion 4. To Take a Brief Recess. 

Motion 5. To Follow the Agenda. This motion must be made at the time an item of business that de-
viates from the agenda is proposed; otherwise, the motion is out of order as to that item. 

Motion 6. To Suspend the Rules. To be adopted, a motion to suspend the rules must receive affirma-
tive votes equal to at least two-thirds of the board’s actual membership, excluding vacant seats and not 
counting the mayor if the mayor votes only in case of a tie. The board may not suspend provisions in 
these rules that are required under state law. 

Motion 7. To Divide a Complex Motion. This motion is in order whenever a member wishes to con-
sider and vote on parts of a complex motion separately. The member who makes this motion must speci-
fy how the complex motion will be divided. 

Motion 8. To Defer Consideration. The board may defer its consideration of a substantive motion, 
and any proposed amendments thereto, to an unspecified time. A motion that has been deferred expires 
unless the board votes to revive it pursuant to Motion 13 within 100 days of deferral. A new motion hav-
ing the same effect as a deferred motion may not be introduced until the latter has expired. 

Motion 9. To End Debate (Call the Previous Question). If adopted, this motion terminates debate 
on a pending motion, thereby bringing it to an immediate vote. This motion is not in order until every 
member has had an opportunity to speak once on the pending motion. 

Motion 10. To Postpone to a Certain Time. This motion may be employed to delay the board’s con-
sideration of a substantive motion, and any proposed amendments thereto, until a designated day, meet-
ing, or hour. During the period of postponement, the board may not take up a new motion raising essen-
tially the same issue without first suspending its rules pursuant to Motion 6. 

Motion 11. To Refer a Motion to a Committee. The board may vote to refer a substantive motion to 
a committee for study and recommendations. While the substantive motion is pending before the com-
mittee, the board may not take up a new motion raising essentially the same issue without first suspend-
ing its rules pursuant to Motion 6. If the committee fails to report on the motion within 60 days of the 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 53



referral date, the board must take up the motion if asked to do so by the member who introduced it. 
Motion 12. To Amend. 

(a) Germaneness. A motion to amend must concern the same subject matter as the motion it seeks to 
alter. 

(b) Limit on Number of Motions to Amend. When a motion to amend is under consideration, a motion 
to amend the amendment may be made; however, no more than one motion to amend and one motion to 
amend the amendment may be pending at the same time. 

(c) Amendments to Ordinances. Any amendment to a proposed ordinance must be reduced to writing 
before the vote on the amendment. 

Motion 13. To Revive Consideration. The board may vote to revive consideration of any substantive 
motion that has been deferred pursuant to Motion 8, provided it does so within 100 days of its vote to 
defer consideration. 

Motion 14. To Reconsider. The board may vote to reconsider its action on a matter, provided the mo-
tion to reconsider is made (a) at the same meeting during which the action to be reconsidered was taken 
and (b) by a member who voted with the prevailing side. For purposes of this motion, “the same meet-
ing” includes any continuation of a meeting through a motion to recess to a certain time and place (Mo-
tion 3). The motion is not in order if it interrupts the board’s deliberation on a pending matter. 

Motion 15. To Rescind. The board may vote to rescind an action taken at a prior meeting provided 
rescission is not forbidden by law. 

Motion 16. To Prevent Reintroduction for Six Months. This motion may be used to prevent the re-
introduction of a failed substantive motion for a time, but it is in order only when made immediately fol-
lowing the substantive motion’s defeat. To be adopted, this motion must receive votes equal to at least 
two-thirds of the board’s actual membership, excluding vacant seats and not counting the mayor, unless 
the mayor may vote on all questions. If this motion is adopted, the ban on reintroduction remains in ef-
fect for six months or until the board’s next organizational meeting, whichever occurs first. 

 

Part IX. Ordinances and Contracts 
Rule 32. Introduction of Ordinances 
For purposes of these rules, the “date of introduction” for a proposed ordinance is the date on which the 
board first votes on the proposed ordinance’s subject matter. The board votes on the subject matter of a 
proposed ordinance when it votes on whether to adopt or make changes to the proposed ordinance. 
 

Rule 33. Adoption, Amendment, and Repeal of Ordinances 
(a) Adoption of Ordinances. 

(1) Proposed ordinances to be in writing. No proposed ordinance shall be adopted unless it has been 
reduced to writing and distributed to members before a vote on adoption is taken. 

(2) Adoption on date of introduction. To be approved on the date of introduction, a proposed 
ordinance or any action having the effect of an ordinance must receive affirmative votes equal to at 
least two-thirds of the board’s actual membership, excluding vacant seats and not counting the 
mayor, unless the mayor has the right to vote on all questions before the board. 

(3) Adoption after date of introduction. To be approved after the date of introduction, a proposed 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 54



ordinance or any action having the effect of an ordinance must receive affirmative votes equal to at 
least a majority of all board members not excused from voting on the matter. In calculating the 
number of affirmative votes necessary for approval, the mayor’s vote counts if there is an equal 
division. 

(b) Amendment and Repeal of Ordinances. The same voting requirements that govern the adoption of 
proposed ordinances also apply to the amendment or repeal of an ordinance. 
 

Rule 34. Adoption of the Budget Ordinance 
(a) Special Rules for the Adoption or Amendment of the Budget Ordinance. Notwithstanding any 
provision in the town charter, general law, or local act, 

(1) the board may adopt or amend the budget ordinance at a regular or special meeting of the board by 
a simple majority of those members present and voting, a quorum being present; 

(2) no action taken with respect to the adoption or amendment of the budget ordinance need be 
published or is subject to any other procedural requirement governing the adoption of ordinances 
or resolutions by the board; and 

(3) the adoption or amendment of the budget ordinance and the levy of taxes in the budget ordinance 
are not subject to the provisions of any town charter or local act concerning initiative or 
referendum. 

(b) Notice Requirements for Budget Meetings. During the period beginning with the submission of 
the budget to the board and ending with the adoption of the budget ordinance, the board may hold any 
special meetings that may be necessary to complete its work on the budget ordinance. Except for the no-
tice requirements of the open meetings law, which continue to apply, no provision of law concerning the 
call of special meetings applies during that period so long as 

• each member of the board has actual notice of each special meeting called for the purpose of 
considering the budget and 

• no business other than consideration of the budget is taken up. 

(c) No Authority for Closed Sessions. This rule shall not be construed to authorize the board to hold 
closed sessions on any basis other than the grounds set out in Rule 5. 

 

Rule 35. Approval of Contracts and Authorization of Expenditures 
(a) Contracts to be in Writing. No contract shall be approved or ratified by the town board unless it 
has been reduced to writing at the time of the board’s vote. 

(b) Approval of Contracts. To be approved or ratified, a contract must receive affirmative votes equal 
to at least a majority of all board members not excused from voting on the contract, including the 
mayor’s vote in the event of a tie. 

(c) Authorization of Expenditure of Public Funds. The same vote necessary to approve or ratify a 
contract is required for the board to authorize the expenditure of public funds, except when the expendi-
ture is authorized pursuant to Rule 34. 

 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 55



Part X. Public Hearings and Comment Periods 
Rule 36. Public Hearings 
(a) Calling Public Hearings. In addition to holding public hearings required by law, the board may hold 
any public hearings it deems advisable. The board may schedule hearings or delegate that responsibility 
to town staff members, as appropriate, except when state law directs the board itself to call the hearing. 
If the board delegates scheduling authority, it must provide adequate guidance to assist staff members in 
exercising that authority. 

 (b) Public Hearing Locations. Public hearings may be held anywhere within the town or within the 
county where the town is located. 

 (c) Rules for Public Hearings. The board may adopt reasonable rules for public hearings that, among 
other things, 

• fix the maximum time allotted to each speaker, 
• provide for the designation of spokespersons for groups of persons supporting or opposing the 

same positions, 
• provide for the selection of delegates from groups of persons supporting or opposing the same 

positions when the number of persons wishing to attend the hearing exceeds the capacity of the 
hall (so long as arrangements are made, in the case of a hearing subject to the open meetings 
law, for those excluded from the hall to listen to the hearing), and 

• provide for the maintenance of order and decorum in the conduct of the hearing. 

 (d) Notice of Public Hearings. Any public hearing at which a majority of the board is present shall be 
considered part of a regular or special meeting. Consequently, the relevant notice and related require-
ments of the open meetings law, as set out in Rules 9 through 12, apply to such hearings. Some statutes 
mandate additional notice for particular types of hearings, and such notice must be provided together 
with notice of the meeting during which the hearing will take place. 

 (e) Continuing Public Hearings. The board may continue any public hearing without further adver-
tisement to a time and place certain, provided the time (including the date, if the hearing will resume on 
a different day) and place of the continued hearing are announced in open session. Except for hearings 
conducted pursuant to paragraph (g), if a quorum of the board is not present for a properly scheduled 
public hearing, the hearing must be continued until the board’s next regular meeting without further ad-
vertisement. 

 (f) Conduct of Public Hearings. At the time appointed for the hearing, the mayor shall call the hearing 
to order and proceed to allow public input in accordance with any rules adopted by the board for the 
hearing. Unless the board extends the hearing, when the time allotted for the hearing expires, or when no 
one wishes to speak who has not done so, the mayor shall declare the hearing closed, and the board shall 
resume the regular order of business. 

(g) Public Hearings by Less Than a Majority of Board Members. Nothing in this rule prevents the 
board from appointing a member or members to hold a public hearing on the board’s behalf, except 
when state law requires that the board itself conduct the hearing. 

 

Rule 37. Public Comment Periods 
(a) Frequency of Public Comment Periods. The board must provide at least one opportunity for public 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 56



comment each month at a regular meeting, except that the board need not offer a public comment period 
during any month in which it does not hold a regular meeting. 

(b) Rules for Public Comment Periods. The board may adopt reasonable rules for public comment pe-
riods that, among other things, 

• fix the maximum time allotted to each speaker, 
• provide for the designation of spokespersons for groups supporting or opposing the same 

positions, 
• provide for the selection of delegates from groups supporting or opposing the same positions 

when the number of persons wishing to attend the public comment period exceeds the capacity 
of the hall (so long as arrangements are made for those excluded from the hall to listen to the 
hearing), and 

• provide for the maintenance of order and decorum in the conduct of the hearing. 

(c) Content-Based Restrictions Generally Prohibited. The board may not restrict speakers based on 
subject matter, as long as their comments pertain to subjects within the board’s real or apparent jurisdic-
tion. 

 

Part XI. Appointments and Appointed Bodies 
Rule 38. Appointments 
(a) Appointments in Open Session. The board must consider and make any appointment to another 
body or, in the event of a vacancy on the board, to its own membership in open session. 

(b) Nomination and Voting Procedure. The board shall use the following procedure to fill a vacancy 
in the board itself or in any other body over which it has the power of appointment. The board will set a 
timeframe to receive applications for the vacancy. The town clerk will compile the applications and pre-
sent as part of the agenda packet. After the board has reviewed the applications in open session, the 
mayor shall call the roll of the members, and each member shall cast a vote for his or her preferred nom-
inee. The voting shall continue until a nominee receives a majority of votes cast during a single ballot-
ing. 

(c) Mayor. The mayor may not vote on appointments under this rule. 

(d) Multiple Appointments. If the board is filling more than one vacancy, each member shall have as 
many votes in each balloting as there are slots to be filled, and the votes of a majority of the total num-
ber of members voting shall be required for each appointment. No member may cast more than one vote 
for the same candidate for the same vacancy during a single balloting. 

(e) Duty to Vote. It is the duty of each member to vote for as many appointees as there are appointments 
to be made, but failure to do so shall not invalidate a member’s ballot. 

(f) Vote by Written Ballot. The board may vote on proposed appointments by written ballot in accord-
ance with Rule 29. 

 

Rule 39. Committees and Boards 
(a) Establishment and Appointment. The board may establish temporary and standing committees, 
boards, and other bodies to help carry on the work of town government. Unless otherwise provided by 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 57



law or the board, the power of appointment to such bodies lies with the board. 

(b) Open Meetings Law. The requirements of the open meetings law apply whenever a majority of an 
appointed body’s members gather in person or simultaneously by electronic means to discuss or conduct 
official business. They do not apply to meetings solely among the town’s professional staff. 

(c) Procedural Rules. The board may prescribe the procedures by which the town’s appointed bodies 
operate, subject to any statutory provisions applicable to particular bodies. In the absence of rules adopt-
ed by the board, an appointed body may promulgate its own procedural rules, so long as they are in 
keeping with any relevant statutory provisions and generally accepted principles of parliamentary proce-
dure. 

 

Part XII. Miscellaneous 
Rule 40. Amendment of the Rules 
These rules may be amended at any regular meeting or at any properly called special meeting for which 
amendment of the rules is one of the meeting’s stated purposes. Any amendment to these rules must be 
consistent with the town charter, any relevant statutes, and generally accepted principles of parliamen-
tary procedure. To be adopted, a motion to amend these rules must be approved by a majority of the 
board’s members, excluding vacant seats and counting the mayor only if the mayor may vote on all 
questions. 
 

Rule 41. Reference to Robert’s Rules of Order Newly Revised 
The board shall refer to Robert’s Rules of Order Newly Revised for guidance when confronted with a 
procedural issue not covered by these rules or state law. Having consulted Robert’s, the mayor shall 
make a ruling on the issue subject to appeal to the board under Rule 31, Motion 1. 
 

Rule 42. Communication Guidelines (?) 
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 58



Agenda Item Summary 
Regular Meeting 
January 9, 2023 
Agenda Item 6                                     Mission Statement 

          
 
 

Summary: 
 

Please see attached summary. 
 
 
 
 
Attachments: 

• Mission Statement summary and suggestion 

Action Requested: 
Motion to adopt the proposed Mission statement (as presented / as 
amended). 

Motion Made By: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  

Second By: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  
 
 

 

For: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  

Against: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  

 
 
In case of tie: 
Mayor Brittany Barnhardt 
 For              

 Against      
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 59



SUMMARY 
 

TO: Board of Aldermen 
FROM: Town Manager 

RE: Mission Statement 

DATE: 1/9/23 
 

 
 
Vision: Solid as the rock on which it was founded, Granite Quarry will be a growing, connected 

and family-friendly town that provides a high quality of life for all.  
 

Core Values: “GQ SOLID” 
Growth 
Quality 
Streamline Communication 
Operate with Accountability 
Lead with Honesty & Integrity 
Implement Teamwork 
Demonstrate Enthusiastic Engagement 

 
Now that that the Board has updated its Vision and Core Values, the last component for our 
organizational guidance is the Mission Statement.  As a general rule: 

• Mission is what you do best every day 
• Vision is what the future looks like because you do that mission exceedingly well 
 

 

2015 Mission draft (for background only): 
To foster (community?) growth through a sustainable comprehensive plan committed to economic 
development for the town where citizens can work and play while improving quality of life. 

 

 
2022 Mission draft:  Possible 2022 revamp that pulls from updated strategic planning discussions: 
Optimizing quality of life for our community by delivering exemplary municipal services and 
embracing quality growth consistent with our unique sense of place and granite character. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Recommended Action: 
Motion to adopt the proposed Mission statement (as presented / as amended). 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 60



Agenda Item Summary 
Regular Meeting 
January 9, 2023 
Agenda Item 7                               Event Sponsorship Guidelines 

          
 
 

Summary: 
Town events have grown over the last few years, largely in part 
to sponsorships. Before actively seeking sponsorships for the 
2023 events, staff would like to have a set of guidelines to ensure 
that all objectives and expectations are clearly outlined. 
 
Staff is asking that the Board discuss the drafted document and 
adopt the administrative guidelines by consensus. 
 
 
 
Attachments: 

• Draft Event Sponsorship Guidelines 

Action Requested: 
Adoption by consensus. 

Motion Made By: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  

Second By: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  
 
 

 

For: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  

Against: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  

 
 
In case of tie: 
Mayor Brittany Barnhardt 
 For              

 Against      
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 61



 
2023 

 
EVENT SPONSORSHIP GUIDELINES 

 
Purpose: The purpose of these guidelines is to set standards for the Town of Granite Quarry as it 
actively seeks sponsorships to generate additional revenues for the betterment of events within the 
control of the Town.   Sponsorships are not intended to provide a public forum for communication 
and debate.    
 
The Town will operate its sponsorship program in a manner that maximizes revenue while ensuring 
that the sponsorship materials displayed do not negatively affect the goodwill of citizens and visitors 
and do not diminish the reputation of the Town.   To accomplish these objectives, the Town has 
adopted the following guidelines. 
 

Sponsorship Criteria  

At a minimum, the following criteria when evaluating a sponsorship application shall be taken into 
consideration in determining compatibility for a sponsorship; in all cases, the Town Manager or 
his/her designee will have the ability to accept or reject a proposal. 

1. The compatibility of the organization’s products, customers, and promotional goals with the 
Town and/or event's purpose; 

2. The organization’s past record of involvement in community and projects; 
3. The mission, vision, and values of the potential sponsor; 
4. the degree to which the organization’s impact aligns with the Town’s Strategic Plan; 
5. Community support for, or opposition to, the application; 
6. The organization’s record of responsible environmental stewardship; 

 

Sponsorship from an Organization or Business  

Sponsorship from an organization or business that is engaged in any of the following activities, or has 
a mission of supporting any of the following subject matters, or that, in the sole discretion and 
judgment of the authorized representative of the Town is deemed to be unsuitable for and contrary 
to community standards or appropriateness for government publications, shall be prohibited on any 
Town property or in any Town publications: 

1. Businesses that mass-produce and distribute alcoholic beverages. Local breweries producing 
craft beer may be considered if the corporation promotes the local economy and 
advertisement messages are deemed appropriate for general audiences; 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 62



2. Promotion of the sale or consumption of tobacco and/or vaping products or depiction of the 
use of tobacco products; 

3. Promotion of gambling, or promotion of establishments providing such services or activities 
of a related or similar nature; 

4. Depiction in any form of profanity, obscenity or lewdness, or characterizations which suggest, 
depict or promote any such element or sexually-oriented products, activities, or materials; 

5. Promotion in any form of illegal drugs, illegal drug use, illegal drug paraphernalia, or 
characterizations that suggest or depict the promotion or glorification of any such products, 
activities, or materials; 
 
Individuals wishing to sponsor may not include a logo or slogan and will not be included on 
printed materials regardless of the sponsorship level. Sponsorships from individuals will be 
considered a donation. 
 

Application Review 

1. The Town Manager or his/her designee will initially review the application. At a minimum, 
the staff will review the sponsorship application to confirm/determine whether the sponsor 
meets the criteria, restrictions, standards, and guidelines set forth in this document. 

2. The Town Manager or his/her designee, possibly including an event committee, will have the 
ability to approve or deny any and all sponsorships. 
 

Permissible Sponsors and Message Content 

1. The Town reserves the right to exercise full editorial control over the location, method, size, 
appearance, and wording of any sponsorship messages.   

2. All sponsorship messages displayed or spoken in or at Town venues or events shall be 
commercial or governmental in nature and purpose. 
a. Commercial messages - messages whose sole purpose is to sell or rent real or personal 

property for profit, or to sell services for profit. It does not include messages that both 
offer to sell property or services and convey information about matters of general 
interest, political issues, religious, moral, or environmental matters or issues, or other 
public matters or issues, or expresses or advocates opinions or positions upon any of the 
foregoing.   Commercial messages also mean messages whose sole purpose is to promote 
a non-profit or regional tourist attraction. 

b. Governmental messages mean messages whose sole purpose is to promote or inform the 
public of a service, program, or activity of the federal, state, or local governmental entity 
or agency. 

3. The Town will allow legally qualified candidates for public office to sponsor the Granite Fest 
event occurring each October unless or until the Town determines political sponsorships to 
be out of alignment with the event’s purpose. 

4. Town venues and events must accommodate all persons, regardless of age or sensibilities. 
Therefore, the following types of messages will not be displayed, and may not be spoken, even 
if the messages are commercial or governmental in nature. 
a. Messages for products or services related to human reproduction or sexuality, including 

but not limited to contraceptive products or services, other products or services related 
to sexual hygiene, counseling with regard to pregnancy, abortion, or other sexual matters. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 63



b. Messages for products, services, or entertainment directed to sexual stimulation. 
5. The Town will not permit messages that disparage the Town, any other person, or any entity. 
6. The use of the Town's name, logo, slogans, or other graphic representations requires express 

prior approval of the Town Manager or his/her designee.  
7. All messages must be truthful. Statements, copy, and illustrations should not be exaggerated, 

distorted, or deceptive.  
8. No messages shall include language, pictures, or other graphic representations that are 

unsuitable for exposure to persons of young age and immature judgment or shall be 
derogatory of any person or group because of race, national origin, ethnic background, 
religion, or gender. 

9. No messages shall be displayed or spoken that would violate any federal, state, or local law 
or regulation. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 64



Agenda Item Summary 
Regular Meeting 
January 9, 2023 
Agenda Item 8                         NCLM Voting Delegate 

          
 
 

Summary: 
 

The League Bulletin included the following in their Dec. 9, 
2022 edition. 
 

 
 
 
Action Requested: 
 

Motion to appoint ____________ as the Board’s NCLM 
voting delegate. 

Motion Made By: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  

Second By: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  
 
 

 

For: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  

Against: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  

 
 
In case of tie: 
Mayor Brittany Barnhardt 
 For              

 Against      
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 65



Agenda Item Summary 
Regular Meeting 
January 9, 2023 
Agenda Item 9   NCLM Legislative Goals 

Summary: 
The NCLM has developed legislative goals and has asked 
municipalities to cast their votes. After selecting a voting 
delegate, each municipality is being asked to review, discuss, and 
determine which 10 of the 16 goals they support. 

Staff has highlighted 10 goals as a recommendation to begin 
discussion. 

Attachments: 
• NCLM Legislative Goal Statements

Action Requested: 
Review, discuss, and determine which of the proposed legislative 
goals the town supports. 

Motion Made By: 
Jim Costantino 
John Linker 
Doug Shelton 
Jeff Cannon 

Second By: 
Jim Costantino 
John Linker 
Doug Shelton 
Jeff Cannon 

For: 
Jim Costantino 
John Linker 
Doug Shelton 
Jeff Cannon 

Against: 
Jim Costantino 
John Linker 
Doug Shelton 
Jeff Cannon 

In case of tie: 
Mayor Brittany Barnhardt 

For        
Against  

Town of Granite Quarry Page 66



 

   
 

 

LEGISLATIVE GOAL STATEMENTS 
RECOMMENDED BY  

THE NCLM BOARD OF DIRECTORS

 
 

 

The following goal statements are grouped by subject area but NOT listed in any priority order. 

 

● Expand federal and state resources for affordable housing. 

  

o Housing affordability is a growing problem across North Carolina, affecting cities 

and towns of all sizes and people across different income levels.  

o Increasingly, the lack of affordable housing acts as a major impediment to 

business and workforce recruitment. 

o Ongoing state and federal revenue streams to address housing affordability are 

extremely limited, with much of the burden for solutions left with cities and towns 

 

● Revitalize vacant and abandoned properties with enhanced legal tools and funding. 

 

o Abandoned and vacant properties, often the subject of so-called tangled titles, 

can affect the ability of communities to revitalize areas and improve economic 

conditions.  

o The abandoned properties, with enhanced legal tools to help heirs clear up title 

issues and sell properties at market rates, could help address local housing 

needs.  

o Many towns do not have the funding to adequately address abandoned 

properties.  

 

-- 

 

● Create an adequate and permanent funding stream for local infrastructure. 

 

○ Infrastructure – including roads, water, sewer, stormwater, parks and beaches – 

are critical to economic development and job creation. 

○ Many cities in the state are growing, creating a constant need for investment to 

keep pace with population growth; many cities and towns also have aging 

infrastructure that must be replaced. 

o Creating more permanent funding streams for local infrastructure, such as a 

dedicated tax source, would allow for better planning to meet needs.   

Town of Granite Quarry Page 67

Aubrey Smith
Highlight

Aubrey Smith
Highlight



 

   
 

 

 

 

● Allow municipalities to use local resources and capabilities to expand broadband access 

in their communities through innovative partnerships. 

 

○ Slow and unreliable internet service threatens educational and professional 

opportunities, and the economic future of entire communities. 

○ Municipalities own existing infrastructure – including dark fiber, towers and 

electric poles – that could be utilized in innovative partnerships and assist in 

making broadband service more affordable.  

○ Failure to utilize local government assistance and assets will continue to create 

digital gaps that have real-world consequences for North Carolinians.   

 

 

● Extend deadlines for completion of federal infrastructure projects. 

 

o Current deadlines for the allocation and expenditure of American Rescue Plan 

Act funding may make more complex infrastructure projects unrealistic.  

o High inflation and worker shortages are leading to higher project costs; extending 

ARPA and other funding deadlines will spread projects out and may help lower 

costs.  

o Cities and towns require flexible deadlines to get the best bang for their buck out 

of this funding.  

 

-- 

 

● Expand state transportation funding streams for construction and maintenance for 

municipal and state-owned secondary roads. 

 

o Current Powell Bill and other state funding is not adequate to address 

transportation needs, particularly as they affect municipal and state-owned 

secondary roads. 

o In many cities and towns, major commuting corridors are not receiving the level 

of investment needed to keep pace with traffic. 

o More investment is needed for these roads if existing residents are to embrace 

business and residential growth.     

 

 

 

 

 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 68

Aubrey Smith
Highlight

Aubrey Smith
Highlight



 

   
 

 

 

 

● Support integrated and multi-modal transportation solutions.  

 

o Today, cities and towns seek to make downtowns and other areas accessible to 

residents and visitors, whether traveling by foot, bike, car, mass transit and other 

means.  

o Making areas accessible in this manner requires integrated planning and funding 

with the state. 

o Only through recognizing the need for multi-modal transportation solutions can 

cities and towns maximize tourism and other economic opportunities, ensuring 

that local businesses thrive. 

 

● Increase state funding for public transportation operations.  

 

o Road construction is not keeping pace with transportation needs in any many 

areas, and public transportation provides a means to reduce the burden of 

building roads.  

o Investment in public transportation can improve traffic safety, air quality and 

residents’ accessibility to businesses and public services. 

o One of the biggest impediments to economic growth is traffic and commuting 

times, which can be alleviated through public transportation options.   

 

-- 

● Expand incentives and funding for local economic development. 

 

○ Funding is simply inadequate in many cities and towns to encourage job growth. 

○ State grants and incentives are often targeted in ways that fail to assist the areas 

in greatest need of job creation.  

○ Maintaining or expanding funding for film tax credits, major industrial site 

development, downtown development and renewable energy tax credits helps 

cities and towns across the state.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 69

Aubrey Smith
Highlight

Aubrey Smith
Highlight

Aubrey Smith
Highlight



 

   
 

 

 

 

● Expand incentives that encourage regionalization of water and sewer, as well as other 

municipal services, when appropriate. 

 

o A number of municipal water and sewer systems continue to financially struggle 

with deferred maintenance needs.  

o These challenges came about largely due to population and job losses in rural 

areas, leading to an erosion of taxpayer and ratepayer bases. 

o While legislators and municipalities have begun to address these issues with the 

creation of the Viable Utility Reserve and the use of ARPA funding, state 

estimates show needs still exceed expenditures by several billion dollars.  

 

-- 

 

● Enhance state systems and resources for local law enforcement officer recruitment, 

training, and retention. 

 

o Municipalities across the state are facing law enforcement staffing shortages, in 

many cases severe shortages.  

o State training resources are limited, and the cost of local law enforcement 

agencies to send recruits and existing officers to NC Justice Academy locations 

can be prohibitive.  

o Grant writing assistance is one of several options that might provide better 

access to the large volume of federal law enforcement grant funding that is 

available.  

 

● Provide state assistance for yearly financial audits, ensuring that an adequate number of 

auditors is available.  

 

o Several dozen local governments have been placed on the state Unit Assistance 

List due to late audits.  

o Often these audits are late due to staffing shortages, changes in financial 

personnel and a growing shortage of private auditors willing to perform this work.  

o Addressing this challenge would lessen negative portrayals of local government 

financial controls.  

 

 

 

 

 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 70

Aubrey Smith
Highlight



 

   
 

 

 

● Revise state contracting laws to better protect public entities from the effects of inflation.  

 

o Labor and materials costs have been rising at a rapid rate, leaving municipalities 

with few options when project bids and costs exceed expectations. 

o Additional flexibility regarding the contracting process could assist municipalities 

in protecting taxpayers from inflation and escalating costs.  

o Without contracting law flexibility, projects can be delayed and costs can further 

increase.  

 

-- 

● Update annexation petition thresholds to make voluntary annexations easier to initiate.  

 

o Voluntary annexation by petition currently requires 100 percent consent from all 

property owners, a threshold that can be impossible to meet even if a majority of 

property owners can benefit by utilizing their property for business or residential 

purposes. 

o Lowering the threshold from 100 percent represents a middle ground that would 

still reflect the will of property owners but not handicap communities’ ability to 

economically thrive.   

o The ability of a city or town to grow and reflect its urban footprint is vital to it 

financial health; city services are relied on by residents whether they live in or 

near municipal boundaries.  

 

● Provide authority to municipal water systems to recoup costs of clean-up from polluters.  

 

o Local municipal water systems are increasingly being looked to for the clean-up 

up of PFAS and other “forever” chemicals found in surface waters.  

o State regulators plan to set surface water standards for these chemicals and 

propose Maximum Contaminant Levels for PFAS chemicals in drinking water.  

o To date, cities’ only recourse to try to recoup the cost for utility ratepayers is 

through the courts.    

 

● Provide local revenue options beyond property tax.  

 

o Roughly 40 percent of municipal general fund revenue is generated by local 

property taxes.  

o Cities have little to no authority to raise significant revenue in other ways.  

o A lack of diverse, local tax options can affect economic growth, as well as cause 

large swings in revenue based on economic changes.  

 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 71

Aubrey Smith
Highlight

Aubrey Smith
Highlight



Agenda Item Summary 
Regular Meeting 
January 9, 2023 
Agenda Item 10                                Budget Amendment #6 

          
 
 

Summary: 
 

The Police Department applied for and has been awarded a 
Governor’s Crime Commission (GCC) grant in the amount of 
$24,497.91 to cover the full cost of 9 Taser devices.  This 
includes a 5-year warranty, multiple training items, replacement 
cartridges for five years, license fees, and other needed 
accessories.  Once these new units are in place and the officers 
are trained, the PD will designate one of the older units for the 
part-time officers to carry. 
 
The PD confirmed an updated quote of $24,479.37 for these 
units, which is the actual amount the grant will reimburse.  BA#6 
is attached, which authorizes the purchase of the equipment and 
receipt of the grant funds to cover it. 

 
Attachments: 

• Budget Amendment FY 22-23 #6 
 

Action Requested: 
Motion to approve Budget Amendment #6 as presented. 

Motion Made By: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  

Second By: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  
 
 

 

For: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  

Against: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  

 
 
In case of tie: 
Mayor Brittany Barnhardt 
 For              

 Against      
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 72



 
FISCAL YEAR 2022-2023 

BUDGET AMENDMENT REQUEST #6 
 

January 9, 2023 
 
 
 

PURPOSE: To increase Grants (01-3300-36) and increase Police – Cap Outlay - Equipment (01-4310-55) 
in the amount of $24,480 for the purchase of 9 taser devices funded by the Governor’s Crime Commission 
Grant. 
 
 
 

General Fund – Fund 01 
 

Revenues: 
 

GL Acct # Account Description Increase (Decrease): 
01-3300-36 Grants $ 24,480 

 Total Increase/Decrease: $ 24,480 
 
Expenses: 
 

GL Acct # Account Description Increase (Decrease): 
01-4310-55 Police – Cap Outlay - Equipment $ 24,480 

 Total Increase/Decrease: $ 24,480 
 
 
 
 
The above Budget Amendment was approved / denied by the Manager or Board on ______________. 
 
             
 
 
______________________________________  _______________________________________ 

    Brittany H. Barnhardt, Mayor    Shelly Shockley, Finance Officer 
 

 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 73



Agenda Item Summary 
Regular Meeting 
January 9, 2023 
Agenda Item 11                                GPO 2021-13 Closeout 

          
 
 

Summary: 
 

The Board adopted Grant Project Ordinance 2021-13 to account 
for the Town’s allocation of and plan for American Rescue Plan 
Act funds.  Attached is the GPO closeout draft with the final 
accounting for the project. 
 

 
Attachments: 

• GPO 2021-13 Closeout 
• GPO 2021-13 ARPA Adopted as amended 

Action Requested: 
Motion to adopt Grant Project Ordinance 2021-13 closeout as 
presented. 

Motion Made By: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  

Second By: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  
 
 

 

For: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  

Against: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  

 
 
In case of tie: 
Mayor Brittany Barnhardt 
 For              

 Against      
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 74



 
 

GRANT PROJECT ORDINANCE 
 

2021-13 
 

TOWN OF GRANITE QUARRY, NC 
AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN ACT FUND 

 
 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Governing Board of the Town of Granite Quarry, North Carolina, 
that pursuant to Section 13.2 of Chapter 159 of the General Statutes of North Carolina, the 
following grant project ordinance is hereby completed and closed as follows: 
 

Section 1:  The project authorized was to expend the Town’s allocation of American Rescue 
Plan (ARP)/Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds (CSLFRF) under the standard 
allowance for the provision of government services authorized by 31 CFR Part 35.6(d)(1). 
 

Section 2:  The following amounts were appropriated and realized for this project: 
Internal 
Project 
Code 

Project Description Expenditure 
Category (EC) 

Cost 
Object 

Appropriation of 
ARP/CSLFRF 

Funds 

001 Fire Department Services for period of 
3/3/21 through 3/31/22 6.1 Salaries $275,000.00 

002 Law Enforcement Services for period of 
3/3/21 through 3/31/22  6.1 Salaries $310,000.00 

003 Administrative Services for period of 
3/3/21 through 3/31/22 6.1 Salaries $220,000.00 

004 Public Works Services for period of 
3/3/21 through 3/31/22  6.1 Salaries $150,000.00 

005 Governing Body Services for period of 
3/3/21 through 3/31/22 6.1 Salaries $4,916.71 

   TOTAL $959,916.71 
 

Section 3:  The following revenues were received for this project and transferred to General Fund: 
Source   Anticipated 

CSLRF Funds  $959,916.71 
Interest on CSLRF Funds  412.94 

 TOTAL $960,329.65 
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 75

http://www.granitequarrync.gov/


 
 
Section 4: The Finance Officer is directed to maintain sufficient specific detailed accounting 

records of the project to satisfy the requirements of the grantor agency, the grant agreements, and 
all state and federal regulations.  

 
Section 5: A copy of this grant project ordinance closeout shall be entered into the Governing 

Board’s meeting minutes, and within five days after adoption, copies shall be filed with the Finance 
Officer, Budget Officer, and in the Office of the Town Clerk to complete and close out this project. 

 
 
 

Adopted the 9th day of January, 2023 
 
 
(Seal)       ____________________________________ 
          Brittany H. Barnhardt, Mayor 
 
 
Attest: ____________________________________ 
  Aubrey Smith, Town Clerk 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 76

http://www.granitequarrync.gov/


Town of Granite Quarry Page 77



Town of Granite Quarry Page 78



Town of Granite Quarry Page 79



Agenda Item Summary 
Regular Meeting 
January 9, 2023 
Agenda Item 12                              CPO Transformational Projects 

          
 
 

Summary: 
Attached is the Capital Project Ordinance authorizing the funding for 
us to move forward with the Transformational Projects. 
 
 
 
 
Attachments: 

• CPO 2023-01 for Transformation Projects 

Action Requested: 
Motion to adopt Capital Project Ordinance 2023-01 as presented 
for the Town’s Transformational Projects. 

Motion Made By: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  

Second By: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  
 
 

 

For: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  

Against: 
Jim Costantino  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  

Jeff Cannon  
  

 
 
In case of tie: 
Mayor Brittany Barnhardt 
 For              

 Against      
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 80



 
 

CAPITAL PROJECT ORDINANCE 
 

2023-01 
 

TOWN OF GRANITE QUARRY, NC 
TRANSFORMATIONAL PROJECTS 

 
 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Governing Board of the Town of Granite Quarry, North Carolina, 
that pursuant to Section 13.2 of Chapter 159 of the General Statutes of North Carolina, the 
following Capital Project Ordinance is hereby adopted: 
 

Section 1:  The Project authorized is for “Transformational Projects”, generally defined by the 
Board for the purposes herein to mean rare or even once-in-a-generation opportunities to advance 
Town projects that otherwise have not been possible through traditional Town funding or 
resources.  

In Fiscal Years 2022 and 2023 the Town received $959,916.71 through American Rescue Plan 
Act funding, which it elected to expend under the standard allowance for the provision of 
government services authorized by 31 CFR Part 35.6(d)(1).  While this amount was specifically 
used to reimburse the Town for qualifying salaries during the pandemic, the Board is choosing to 
use this same amount of funds as the basis for Transformational Projects it wishes to see achieved 
within the Town limits. 
 

Section 2:  The officers of this unit of government are hereby directed to proceed with the 
capital project within the terms of this project ordinance and the budget contained herein. 

 
Section 3:  The following amounts are appropriated for this project*: 

Administrative, Engineer, or Architect Fees $ 50,000.00 
Construction Costs   864,416.71 
Contingency   45,500.00 

Total Appropriations $ 959,916.71 
* The Board will amend this section as it refines and prioritizes specific projects with the assistance 

of its consulting firm, Stewart.  
 

Section 4:  The following revenues are appropriated for this project: 
Fund Balance Appropriated $ 959,916.71 

Total Revenues $ 959,916.71 
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 81

http://www.granitequarrync.gov/


 

 
Section 5:  The Finance Officer is directed to maintain within the Capital Project Fund sufficient 

specific detailed accounting records to satisfy the requirements of all state and federal regulations.  
 
Section 6:  Funds may be advanced from the General Fund for the purpose of making payments 

as due.  
 
Section 7:  The Finance Officer is directed to report on the financial status of each project 

element in Section 3 of this ordinance on a quarterly basis. 
 
Section 8:  The Budget Officer is directed to include a detailed analysis of past and future costs 

and revenues on this capital project in every budget submission made to this Board until this project 
is complete.  

 
Section 9:  A copy of this capital project ordinance shall be entered into the Governing Board’s 

meeting minutes, and within five days after adoption, copies shall be filed with the Finance Officer, 
Budget Officer, and in the Office of the Town Clerk for direction in carrying out this project. 

 
 
 

Adopted the 9th day of January, 2023 
 
 
(Seal)       ____________________________________ 
          Brittany H. Barnhardt, Mayor 
 
 
Attest: ____________________________________ 
  Aubrey Smith, Town Clerk 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 82

http://www.granitequarrync.gov/


January 2023 
  

Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 
 
 
 
 

Town Hall Closed 
 
 

 
 
 

   
 

 
 
 

Planning Board 6pm 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

8 9 10 11 12 13 14 
  

 
BoA Mtg. 6pm 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Centralina Exec. Board 
Mtng 5pm 

 
 
 

CAC 6pm 
 

  

15 16 17 18 19 20 21 
 MLK Jr. Day 

Town Hall Closed 
 

 
Revitalization 3:30pm 
 
ZBA 6pm 

 
 
 
 

Power in 
Partnership 
Breakfast 7:30am 

  

22 23 24 25 26 27 28 
  

 
 
 

 
 
 
CRMPO TAC 5:30pm 
 
 

 
 
Chamber Annual 
Mtng 6pm 

  

29 30 31     

    
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

  

 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 83



February 2023 
  

Sunday  Monday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday 

   1 2 3 4 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

   
 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

5 6 7 8 9 10 11 
  

 
Planning Board 6pm 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Centralina Board of 
Delegates Mtng TBD 

 
 
 

CAC 6pm 
 

  

12 13 14 15 16 17 18 
  

 
 
BoA Mtg. 6pm 
 

  
 
 
 

Power in 
Partnership 
Breakfast 7:30am 

  

19 20 21 22 23 24 25 
  

 
 
ZBA 6pm 

 
 
Revitalization 3:30pm 
 

 
 
 
CRMPO TAC 5:30pm 
 
 

 
 
 
 

  

26 27 28     

    
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

  

 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 84


	January 9, 2023 Board of Aldermen Meeting Agenda
	1. Approval of Agenda
	2. Approval of Consent Agenda
	December 12, 2022 DRAFT Minutes
	Departmental Reports
	Financial Reports

	4. Town Manager Update
	5. Rules of Procedure
	6. Mission Statement
	7. Sponsorship Guidelines
	8. NCLM Voting Delegate
	9. NCLM Legislative Goals
	10. Budget Amendment - Tasers
	11. GPO 2021-13 ARPA Closeout
	12. CPO 2023-01 Transformational Projects Adoption
	January 2023 Calendar
	February 2023 Calendar

	Back: 


